
 

 

 
Older People's Partnership 

Wednesday 15 June 2016 

10.00 am - 12.00 pm 

Council Chamber, Fourth Floor, Easthampstead 
House, Bracknell 
 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

Item Description Page By Outcome 

1.   Apologies for Absence - Lizzie Rich  

2.   Minutes and Action Points 3 - 8 Mira Haynes  

3.   Green Gym update - Alex Rawle Presentation 

4.   Volunteer Passport Scheme - Phil Cook Verbal update 

5.   Digital Inclusion Plan 9 - 62 Age Concern Report 

6.   Planning for Later Life 63 - 64 Tracey Hedgecox Report 

7.   Older People's Strategy (Refresh) Separate Margaret Gent Report 

8.   Older People's Action Plan 65 - 114 Margaret Gent Report 

9.   Residential Care Contract and Support 
Charter 

- Margaret Gent Presentation 

10.   Accessible Information Standard 115 - 
154 

Rifit Hussain-
Curtis 

Presentation 

11.   New Vision of Care - Mira Haynes Update 

12.   AOB - All  

13.   Future Meetings -   

 Future meetings are scheduled for: 
21 September 2016 
7 December 2016 

   





Unrestricted 

Older People's Partnership 

Wednesday, 16 March 2016 

10.00  - 11.45 am 

Council Chamber, Fourth Floor, Easthampstead 
House, Bracknell 

 
 

 
Present: Philip Cook, Involve 

Tracey Hedgecox, Age Concern Bracknell 
Mira Haynes, Bracknell Forest Council 
Councillor Clifton Thompson, Bracknell Forest Council 
Madeline Diver, CAB 
Linda Wells, Bracknell Forest Homes 
Janet Berry, Head of Community Learning and Skills 
Rifit Hussain-Curtis, Bracknell Forest Council 
 

In attendance: Hayley Maunder, Forestcare 
 

Apologies: Angela Harris, Bracknell Forest Council 
Tina Stevenson, Bracknell and District Citizens Advice Bureau 
 

Action Points 
 

Minute Item 

48   Minutes and Action Points from 16 December 2015 

 The minutes of the meeting on 16 December 2016 were agreed as a correct 
record.  
 
Matters arising 
Minute 39  
Mira agreed to follow up the invitation to the Council’s Transport Manager 
 
Minute 43 
Phil Cook corrected the minutes to note that the Voluntary Sector Emergency 
Planning Role was more about how the voluntary sector could get involved in 
emergency situations such as a a flu pandemic rather than in ongoing crises. It 
was reported that Phil had discussed with the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead on this issue, but that they were at the same exploratory stage as 
Bracknell Forest. The focus was on existing services, and how existing volunteers 
in services such as the ambulance and police services could be trained together to 
assist in a crisis. A significant factor in this was the new Volunteer Passport 
Scheme which was being developed by the Community Resilience Partnership 
chaired by Inspector Jon Goosey.  
 
The Partnership asked Phil for regular updates on the Volunteer Passport Scheme 
and on progress with the Emergency Planning work.    
 

49   Forestcare introduction and demonstration 

 Hayley Maunder, Forestcare, attended the meeting to give an introduction and 
demonstration of Forestcare’s new products.  



 
  

 
 
 

 

 
The new products were: 

 A falls pendant which activates itself in the event of a fall. This pendant 
works with the lifeline 

 A wrist worn epilepsy sensor which covered the user for 24 hours of the 
day, and reduced the necessary number of carer visits 

 The Pocket Pal, which was a roaming device able to make calls to a 
nominated number from anywhere in the world. This was suggested to 
assist people with dementia who may find themselves lost.  

 
It was reported that Forestcare had services as far as Henley, West Berkshire and 
Pangbourne. There had been bags given out in hospitals including some basic 
Forestcare equipment to self-install at home. This equipment was free for 6 weeks, 
followed by a visit from Forestcare staff offering further services. It was noted that 
the Forestcare equipment would help to keep these people out of hospital. 
Forestcare aim to get out to all requests for equipment within 24 hours. 
 
Hayley also commented that Forestcare also offer daily care calls, first responder 
services and key safe services.  
 
The Partnership was asked to contact forestcare.enquiries@bracknell-
forest.gov.uk to find more information on Forestcare’s work.   
 

50   Digital Inclusion Plan Update 

 Amy Neal, Age Concern, reported on the progress of the Digital Inclusion 
Programme.  
 
In 2015, the Digital Inclusion Steering Group had agreed to proposals of a Digital 
Champion Training Course, Digital Tea Parties and Drop In Sessions. It was 
agreed that these would be funded by the remaining Bracknell Forest Homes 
budget, along with a grant from Berkshire Community Fund obtained by Age 
Concern.  
 
The Digital Champions project had now resulted in a 6 week training course for 
volunteers. Nine volunteers had attended the first four sessions on using a tablet, 
and another four volunteers who already knew how to use a tablet had joined the 
course for the last two sessions on training styles and safeguarding adults. 
Feedback from the course showed that the majority of attendees felt more 
confident in using a tablet after the course.  
 
The first Digital Tea Party had taken place on Monday 29 February and had been 
a success. 21 guests had attended, with 10 volunteers to assist them. EE had 
provided the internet at the venue, and had sent 4 members of staff to assist with 
the event. EE had also supplied the majority of the cakes for the event.  
 
Attendees were asked about their current skills and how they would like to learn, 
and it was reported that: 

 11 attendees would prefer one-to-one training 

 7 attendees would prefer small group sessions 

 1 attendee would prefer formal training 
 

In response to a question regarding location of training, it was heard that: 

mailto:forestcare.enquiries@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:forestcare.enquiries@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


 
  

 
 
 

 

 12 attendees would be happy to attend sessions in community centres 

 5 attendees would like the training at their sheltered housing scheme 

 2 would like the training in their home 
 
Volunteers had fed back that they had realised that they could assist others more 
than they thought, and had been really pleased with how much they achieved 
through the course.  
 
The majority of attendees had requested further assistance, and Amy reported that 
further drop in sessions were being organised for attendees and volunteers.  
 
The Partnership noted that the next challenge was to reach the ‘unconverted’ and 
reluctant. Amy reported that Age Concern had conducted a leaflet drop at Martins 
Heron Tesco, and hoped that this would  help to spread the word.  
 
The Partnership discussed sustainability of the programme, as Amy’s role was due 
to end shortly. It was reported that there was a Steering Group Meeting on 22nd 
March to discuss the future of the project, however the Partnership were asked to 
remember that this project was a pilot. It was recommended that Amy should write 
her report and recommendations earlier rather than at the end of her role, so the 
full scope of the project could be discussed.  
 
It was noted that the volunteers who had received training were a stable group, but 
that a one off group would not be enough to sustain the project. Amy commented 
that this one off group was due to a lack of funding, and agreed that further 
volunteers would need to be trained.  
 

51   Planning for Later Life Event Update 

 Tracey Hedgecox, Age Concern, reported on plans for the Planning for Later Life 
event. The event was reported to tackle issues around retirement, pensions, 
promoting longer life, changing relationships, social isolation, and care.  
 
The Forest Suite and Balcony at Bracknell Forest Leisure Centre had been 
provisionally booked on 4 October 2016 for the event. The Leisure Centre had 
granted a discount on the cost of catering. It was hoped that the event would run 
from 10am until 4pm, with set up for an hour before and after.  
 
Representatives from the voluntary sector, parish councils, health services, 
charities and the local business community had been invited to participate. 
 
Tracey reported that she was due to meet David Hilton who had run the Ascot 
Retirement Fair to seek advice.  
 
It was reported that a working group for the event would need to be assembled, 
and any Partnership members were welcome to join this. Several members 
volunteered at the meeting.  
 
The Partnership recommended that Tracey looked at agendas and plans for 
previous Older People’s events in Bracknell Forest. 
 
 
 



 
  

 
 
 

 

52   Update on the Green Gym 

 Janet Berry, Head of Community Learning and Skills updated the Partnership on 
the Green Gym project at Jeallotts Hill.  
 
It was reported that the project had been funded by a joint bid by Bracknell Forest 
Council and Bracknell Forest Homes to the CCG Innovation Fund, which had been 
granted. The Green Gym principle focussed on exercise outdoors, including 
gardening based activity such as wheelbarrowing and planting. The level of 
exercise could be tailored to suit individual fitness levels.  
 
The grant had awarded £53,000, and the majority of this had been used to appoint 
a co-ordinator for the project. This co-ordinator had now been appointed on a one 
year contract, and his name was Alex Rawle. Janet reported that Alex was 
particularly keen to develop a community around the Green Gym to combat social 
isolation. It was suggested that Alex could attend the June meeting of the 
Partnership to update on progress.  
 
Janet commented that exercise outside was particularly beneficial for people with 
mild to moderate mental health needs and Dementia.  
 
It was hoped that after Alex’s one year post, the scheme could run with volunteers. 
Janet reported that the CCG had been clear that their funding would only last for 
one year, and that any necessary funding would need to be found for the scheme 
to continue in its planned form. The Partnership suggested that Janet and Alex 
could approach businesses in the area for funding. Phil Cook, Involve commented 
that he had access to a directory of funds to which the Green Gym could apply for 
further funding.  
 
Alex would be piloting the Green Gym approaches with people without mental 
health needs before inviting people with mental health needs and Dementia in to 
the scheme.  
 
Janet reported that someone who also ran a business called ‘Green Gym’ had 
contacted the Green Gym team to request money to share the name. Therefore, it 
was likely that the name of the project at Jeallott’s Hill would change.  
 

53   Members Updates 

 Janet Berry, Head of Community Learning and Skills reported that the Open 
Learning Centre had received information on their funding for the next 4 years. 
The Open Learning Centre would be refocussing on Employment Skills and 
getting people into work, and it was noted that this could jeopardise the ongoing 
work with Older People.  
 
Madeline Diver, Citizens Advice Bureau reported that the CAB model had 
changed and that customers accessing the service by phone could now use 
Adviceline, resulting in a quicker response.  
 
Phil Cook, Involve, advised the Partnership of the upcoming Bracknell Forest 
Cultural Festival on 19 March and the Community Awareness Event in April which 
would focus on the issue of Loan Sharks. All Partnership members were invited.  
 



 
  

 
 
 

 

Phil also advised that the Befriending service had been funded for the coming 
year, and may even grow as a result of the funding.  

54   AOB 

 Councillor Thompson asked the Partnership about the future of the Senior Citizens 
Forum which had not met for some time. It was agreed that as it was difficult to 
rely on enough volunteers to run the event, and as it would be costly to source a 
co-ordinator for the event, there was not currently a need for the Senior Citizens 
Forum to be revived. If more enquiries were received in the future regarding the 
group, the decision would be reconsidered.  
 

55   Future Meetings 

 The next meeting was scheduled for the 15 June 2016.  
 





MINUTES                                                                                    

 
 
MEETING:  DIGITAL INCLUSION  PROJECT STEERING GROUP 
 
MEETING DATE AND TIME:    22ND MARCH 2016 @ 3:30PM 
 
PRESENT:    MIRA HAYNES (MH) - CHAIR 
   AMY NEAL (AM) 
  TRACEY HEDGECOX (TH) 
  BOBBY MULHEIR (BM) 
  JANET BERRY (JB) 
  KIETH NAYLOR (KN) 
  JANE REDMOND (JR) -  MINUTE TAKER 
 
APOLOGIES:  DANIEL GREEN 
  

1. Minutes of Last Meeting & Matters Arising 
 
Minutes from last meeting agreed. 
 
Kieth did share the mapping information from the GIS team with the 
group. 
 
Bobby advised that the Broadband connection voucher scheme was no 
longer available. 
 
Joanna Flaxman has now left Bracknell Forest Homes.  Agreed that 
Danielle Lane will be added to the distribution list as her replacement. 
 

 

2. 
 

Project Update 
 
Amy advised that they completed the 6 week digital champion training. 
9 volunteers attended the first 4 sessions a further 4 attended the last 2 
sessions.  Feedback from the course was very positive and people feel 
more confident about using their tablets. 
 
Have run the first 2 digital tea parties on 29/2 and 21/3 which proved 
very successful. 21 guests and 10 volunteers attended the first one and 
EE provided the internet and venue and provided 4 members of their 
staff to assist. The second tea party as a lot smaller with 8 guests and 6 
volunteers. 
 
Those that attended completed a feedback form to find out their current 
skills, what they would like learn and how and where they would like to 
learn this. 
 
14 stated they would prefer one to one training 
7 stated they would be happy with small group sessions 
Only 1 said they would want formal training 
 

 
 



15 would be happy to attend sessions at community centres 
5 would like it at their sheltered housing schemes and 3 would like it at 
home. 
 
The majority of people that attended expressed an interest in further 
help so I am organising drop in sessions at various locations that our 
volunteers can go along to provide support. 
 
The first two drop in sessions at Binfield House and Carlyle Court were 
a great success there were 8 guests and 4/5 volunteers for each. 
Feedback was that everyone learned at least one thing that morning if 
not more and were keen for these sessions to become a regular 
occurrence to help them to continue to learn. Another drop in session 
has been booked at Montgomery of Alamein Court on 6th April and will 
be booking some more to keep up the momentum. 
 
The third digital tea party is being held on 18th April and we already 
have a few signed up for it and a host of volunteers. 
 

3. Project Moving Forward 
 
In the last 3 weeks we have helped a total of 42 individuals and some 
have been helped on more than one occasion.  Out of these only 4 
people have said they would not be interested in any further help. 
 
As a case study I have been helping a lady in her 70’s to be able to do 
her shopping online and she is a perfect example of how the elderly 
need ongoing support.  I have been going to see her once a week for 
the last 5 weeks and she is still yet to complete the whole transaction 
on her own.  The last 3 weeks she has attempted to do the shopping 
before I got there but each time something has happened she couldn’t 
solve the problem on her own.  She is very nearly there but without the 
continued support admits she would have given up by now. 
 
I believe that if the events and volunteer support can continue to run 
then the word will start to spread and the project will grow organically.  
However, with my contract ending in May there is currently no plans in 
place for this to continue.  Once regular sessions are up and running 
then the organisation of the project will be easier to run but it will still 
require someone to take a lead on it and therefore funding will be 
needed. 
 
There are still also many ways of progressing the project to reach as 
many people as possible.  Ideas for this include: 
 

 Teaming up with care providers to reach the most isolated 

 The need for ongoing recruitment and training of new volunteers 

 Working to encourage sheltered housing schemes to introduce 
Broadband to communal areas as standard 

 Opening up the project to the whole community (not just the 
elderly) to help those in need who may be younger or have 
disabilities 

 

 
 

4. Actions 
 
Development of generic marketing materials, e.g. press release, leaflet 
and list of champions that any other organisations can download and 
roll out. 
Age Concern Bracknell Forest 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Start populating the report for submission to the group for email 
discussion from 1 May. 
Age Concern Bracknell Forest 
 
Extend the survey live date for customer services to end of May. 
Kieth 
 
An internal comms campaign to get every member of staff to support a 
person who is a non-user or limited user of the internet to complete the 
survey. Probably not Forest Views, most likely an email campaign 
which can then be forwarded with the survey link.  
Bobby, Janet and Kieth to work on this. 
 
An external campaign to the wider population.  Rationale and headline 
findings, in a media release.   
Bobby, Janet and Kieth. 
 
Social Media Campaign plan - use the findings of the report to explore 
barriers / apps, etc. with the wider population.  
Bobby, Janet and Kieth. 
 
GIS mapping to take place at a future date once the survey has 
sufficient data in it.   
Time and nominee to be identified by the working group. 
 
Amy will email report to group by early May and they will respond with 
their comments. 
Amy 
 
 
 

 





  

Bracknell Forest Council 
Age Concern Bracknell Forest 

 

 

Bracknell Forest 
Council 

www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

#ITIQ50plus 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Digital Inclusion Report 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May 2016 

http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/


 

 
1 

Table of Contents (Press F9 to update) 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 1 

Phase 1 – Survey & Initial Research ..................................................................................... 2 

National Statistics .............................................................................................................. 2 

Local Services ................................................................................................................... 3 

Wi-Fi .................................................................................................................................. 3 

Apps .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Survey ............................................................................................................................... 6 

Phase 2 – Survey Results Analysis ....................................................................................... 7 

Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 7 

Online status ..................................................................................................................... 7 

Age .................................................................................................................................... 7 

Gender .............................................................................................................................. 8 

Other equalities ................................................................................................................. 8 

Online Status ..................................................................................................................... 8 

Support for online access ................................................................................................ 10 

Media recognition ............................................................................................................ 10 

Barriers and nudge factors .............................................................................................. 11 

Online use – active users ................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Location ........................................................................................................................... 12 

Media use ........................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Frequency of Use ............................................................................................................ 13 

Apps ................................................................................................................................ 14 

Quality of life.................................................................................................................... 14 

Phase 3 – Pilot Schemes .................................................................................................... 15 

Intro ................................................................................................................................. 15 

Digital Champions ........................................................................................................... 16 

Digital Tea Parties ........................................................................................................... 16 

Drop In Sessions ............................................................................................................. 18 

Results ............................................................................................................................ 19 

Marketing ........................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Action Plan ...................................................................................................................... 21 

Appendix 1 – Survey questions (from hard copy) ................................................................ 22 

Appendix 2 - Terms of Reference for the Digital Inclusion Group ........................................ 34 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
1 

Introduction 

In 2013 and in response to public consultation which informed the Commissioning Strategy for 

Older People in Bracknell Forest, the Older People’s Partnership Board set up a Digital Inclusion 

Working Sub-Group.  The purpose of the group was to find out if people were online and how they 

used the Internet and Internet enabled technologies.  The findings would inform actions under 

Priority 5 of the strategy to enable and facilitate more older people to get online.  

As the outcomes of the work aligned closely with that of the Council’s Corporate Digital Inclusion 

Steering Group and an Age Concern Bracknell Forest digital inclusion project, it was agreed that 

the three groups would join to form one working group and share the development, delivery and 

findings from any projects and research. The Terms of Reference for the Digital Inclusion Group 

and supporting action plan are attached in Appendix 2. 

In May 2015, a Digital Inclusion Coordinator was appointed to carry out the research project for a 

period of 12 months. 

The project can be broken down in four phases: 

Phase 1: Survey & Initial Research 

Phase 2: Survey Results Analysis 

Phase 3: Pilot Schemes 

Phase 4: Role Out 

Phases 1 – 3 have been undertaken by the Digital Inclusion Coordinator and this report should 

help inform Phase 4. 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
2 

Phase 1 – Survey & Initial Research 

National Statistics 

“While we have seen a notable increase in internet usage across all groups in recent years, many 

older and disabled people are still not online, with two-thirds of women over 75 having never used 

the internet.” (Pete Lee, Surveys and Economic Indicators Division, Office for National Statistics) 

According to figures for 2016 from the Office for National Statistics (ONS): 

 10.2% (5.3 million) had never used the internet compared with 11.4% (5.9 million) in 2015 

 87.9% of adults in the UK (45.9 million) had recently (in the last 3 months) used the 

internet, compared with 86.2% in 2015. 

 38.7% of adults aged 75 years and over were recent internet users. 

Since the ONS survey  began in 2011, the proportion of over 75’s never having used the internet 

has fallen from 76% to 56.5% in 2016 representing a fall of approximately 20% whilst other older 

age groups have halved: 

 

Trends in internet usage by 75+ year olds nationally show that the numbers of 75+ year olds who 

have never used the internet is falling year on year.  Whilst people in the older age groups (55-64, 

65-74 and 75+) have higher rates of lapsed internet usage (last used more than 3 months ago) 

than younger age groups, the percentage of lapsed users has fallen for all age groups, and the 

biggest fall has been in the 75+ age group: 

http://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/itandinternetindustry/bulletins/internetusers/2016#statisticians-quote
http://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/itandinternetindustry/bulletins/internetusers/2016


Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
3 

 

Older women 75+ are more likely never to have used the internet.  Of those that do use the 

internet, they do so less frequently than men. 

The proportion of older people with disabilities in 75+ age categories is smaller than the other 

older age categories (55-64, 65-74), however, the percentage using the net in the last three 

months increasing. 

The number of retirees using the net in the last three months has also increased by 19.1% from 

39.8% in 2011 to 58.9% in 2016.  

Another statistic states that 1 in 5 people don’t stay online without ongoing support and a lot of 

elderly people (50+, 64+ over 75s, which) won’t go online unless they have someone they trust for 

reassurance. 

Local Services 

Services for learning to use technology within the borough include:  

 Beginner computer and tablet courses available at the Open Learning Centre and Bracknell 

College that are taught in the traditional classroom method and are open to all ages.  

 Weekly drop in sessions at the Open Learning Centre where people can either just use the 

technology and Wi-Fi available or book a slot to have an advisory session. 

 The U3A run a computer group, but this is more suitable for those that already have an 

interest in using technology and is more of a discussion format. 

 Age Concern and Bracknell Forest Homes have run a series of tablet courses at sheltered 

accommodation schemes. 

Wi-Fi 

The map below shows just some of the free Wi-Fi Hotspots in the borough. These include libraries, 

cafés, bars, pubs and even supermarkets. These are often free services, however the downside to 

public Wi-Fi usage is security and privacy, which is a concern highlighted by many of the 

respondents to the Bracknell Forest survey, and would not be ideal for online banking, shopping 

and Skype, etc.   

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
4 

 

 

Recognising increased demand from residents, since starting the project two of the housing 

schemes have started talks about introducing Wi-Fi into their communal areas but this is not 

standard across the board as not everyone living at the schemes is interested. 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
5 

Apps 

Throughout the survey there have been very few people who used any kind of ‘lifestyle’ App other 

than Facebook, Skype, news channels, on demand services, shopping, etc.  The impression given 

was that beyond communication and information searches, lifestyle Apps are ‘gimmicky’ for this 

age group and there just isn’t an interest in using them, even amongst the regular internet users.  

An App Map could be introduced later on when there is a core group of those learning (not sure I 

understand this last sentence). 

As part of the research though, these are a few Apps that might be useful for people in the long 

term: 

App Device Description 

Daily Living  

Fix my Street Both 
An app to help people report problems in their local area, directly to the council, from 
their phone. So if you are walking past a pothole, an abandoned car or some graffiti, 
simply whip out your phone and create a report for your local authority. 

Health 

Pill Reminder Pro iOS 
Enter in the name of your pill, dosage, frequency, and what time(s) of day, and Pill 
Reminder sends a message via PUSH alert. 

Pill Manager Both 
A Complete Medicine Management System on your Mobile Phone or Your 
Computer. 

Med Coach Both 

This helps you remember to take your medications and pills. You can set up multiple 
alarms, log the pills you have taken, and there are automatic reminders when you 
need to refill your prescription. The app links through to a medication database that 
provides information on medicines. 

Health Mapper iOS 
Health Mapper allows people with long-term health conditions to monitor their health 
condition so as they can gain perspective on their health, spot triggers and patterns, 
and better inform their doctors on how they've been. 

Diabetes Manager iOS 
Track your essential diabetes data and tailor the app to you, whether you have type 
1 or type 2 diabetes. 

Sight & Sound 

Dragon Dictation iOS 
This voice-recognition application allows users to dictate text or email messages 
and see them instantly. Users can also dictate status updates for Facebook, tweets, 
or send themselves notes and reminders. 

Magnifying Glass 
with Light 

iOS 
This app uses your phone’s camera zoom and flash to make reading small text a lot 
easier.  Ideal for those times when you’ve brought the wrong pair of glasses out with 
you or there’s not enough natural light to read properly. 

Magnifying Glass Android Same as the one above but it is available for Android. 

Soundamp Lite Both Helps to cancel out background noise when using headphones. 

Leisure, Hobbies & Interests 

Sky Scanner Both Browse the cheapest flights from all operators 

Airbnb Both B&B search 

Citymapper Both Brings you real-time information on public transport for cities around the world. 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
6 

Survey 

To inform future research and development, an initial survey was developed to gather the views 

and experiences of older people (aged 50+). The aim was to provide quantifiable data and 

qualitative information to help identify and explore barriers to getting online and also the nudge 

factors that could be exploited to help older people get online.  A hard copy of the survey questions 

is attached in Appendix 1. 

Methodology 

The online survey was designed to be delivered on tablets so that it can be easily accessed 

anywhere.  It was trialled at the Ascot Retirement Fair held at Ascot Racecourse in August 2014.  

From this, some changes were made to get more accurate information and then from June 2015 

the revised survey was rolled out. 

The survey was intended to gather information around four different user groups and each 

respondent was asked to describe themselves according to one of the following group definitions1: 

 Offline and not interested in getting online 

 Offline but interested in getting online 

 Online but restricted user 

 Online and active user 

Each classification was then asked a small number of specific questions (see Appendix 1).   

The focus of the questions for people who declared themselves as offline was to determine their 

reasons and whether being online would be of benefit to them and in what ways.   

The focus of the questions for people who were already online, was to determine the scope and 

extent of their online use in order to determine the messages and nudge factors that could 

encourage people who were offline to consider getting online. 

All respondents were asked to what extent they agreed or disagreed with the statement “Getting 

online could improve my quality of life”. All were asked their age and gender to help determine if 

these characteristics were a factor in online status. 

                                                

1
 Based on definitions used in the Age UK London “Wealth of the Web: Broadening Horizons Online” Report 

(2013) 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
7 

Phase 2 – Survey Results Analysis 

Introduction 

There were two hundred and ninety six (296) responses to the survey.  Respondents were 

approached at sheltered accommodation schemes, care homes, coffee mornings, 50+ meetings, 

over 50 leisure centre mornings, etc. 

Online status 

A total of 296 people gave their online status as follows:  

 

Figure 1 – Online status 

Figure 1 tells us that with regard to online status, those online outweigh those offline (165 

people or 55.8% of all respondents online compared to 131 people or 44.3%). Of the people who 

were online, more were online and active (90) than online but restricted (75).  Of the people 

who were offline, more people were offline and not interested (102) offline but interested in getting 

online (29).  Correlations with age are explored later in the report, but these top level findings 

suggest that those people in this sample who are interested in being online may already have 

made steps to make this happen. 

Age 

A total of 293 respondents offered their age: 

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
8 

Figure 2 - Age profile 

Figure 2 demonstrates the majority spread of respondents have been across three age groups. 

Gender 

A total of 291 people offered information on gender.   

 

Figure 3 - Gender profile 

The vast majority of respondents were female.  There is no evidence from this survey to suggest 

why there is a female bias. 

Other equalities 

No other statutory equalities information such as ethnicity, religion or belief, marital status, sexual 

orientation, etc. was gathered in this survey. 

Online Status and age 

Figures suggest that the older the respondent, the less likely they are to be online.  

 

In the 65-74 age group the split 57 online to 15 offline, it levels out in the 75-84 age group with 59 

online and 49 offline and then switches dramatically for the 85+ group with only 24 online and 64 

offline. 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
9 

 

When comparing the three age groups, the 85+ age group had the highest percentage of people 

who were offline and not interested in getting online. The 65-74+ age group had the highest 

percentage of people who were online who were both restricted and active.  Of the two older age 

groups, the 75-84 age group has the higher proportion of people who are online, but the 85+ age 

group has the higher percentage of people who are offline and who would like to get online.  This 

gives an indication of the target audiences that might need additional support. 

Online status and gender 

Of the 72 male respondents, more men were online (43) than offline (29).  Of the 244 female 

respondents, more women were online (122) than offline (102).  

 

With regard to the four status categories, the gender split is as follows: 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
10 

 

Men are generally have greater interest in and are more active on the internet than women. . 

Support for online access  

The Older People’s Partnership recognises that not all people might want to get online directly, 

but might be enabled to do so through other people to access the wealth of information that may 

be of use or interest to them.  

It was found that only 9 people in the whole survey did not know anyone else with internet 

access (2.3%) and of the rest who were offline, all knew at least one relative who was online.  

However, ability and confidence to go online and remain active online was influenced by a number 

of barriers and nudge factors which are explored later in the report. 

Exploring who these ‘enablers’ or ‘conduits of information’ are will help understand the 

range of target audiences that need to be reached using digital media and which digital 

channels are most appropriate. This will be a particular challenge when seeking to reach 

the oldest in the population who may well benefit most from information but who are closed 

to the online world. 

Media recognition 

We asked the 131 offline users about their awareness of a number of Internet access technologies 

in order to determine the: 

 media that people are comfortable with 

 technology that could be used to help people get online  

 language we need to use in communications messages  

All of the words recognised by the offline respondents are ranked (by frequency) as follows: 

1. Personal computer (116 or 88.5%) 

2. Laptop (116 or 88.5%) 

3. Mobile phone (109 or 83.2%) 

4. Email (103 or 78.6%) 

5. Tablet (101 or 77.1%) 

6. Games Console (70 or 53.4%) 

7. E-Reader (65 or 49.6%) 

8. Internet TV (60 or 45.8%) 

“I know the internet 

could help me and I 

do have an iPad, but 

I don’t know how to 

use it properly” 

Penny, 54 

  



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
11 

9. Smart Phone (56 or 42.7%) 

10. App (35 or 26.7%)  

In all age groups personal computer, laptop and tablet were the most recognised terms 

which suggests that language and recognition of the technology is not a barrier. 

Barriers 

People who are offline 

For those that were offline, when asked what prevents them going 

online these were the main reasons cited: 

1. See no need for it  34 

2. Lack of knowledge   33 

3. Family do things for them  30 

4. Feel they are too old   15 

5. Think it’s unsociable  5 

6. Health reasons   8 

7. Security worries    2 

8. Cost    2 

 

Many of those that stated a lack of knowledge also followed this up with that fact they struggle to 

retain as much information as when they were younger.  Some have had family try and teach 

them, but have found there is a lack of patience when they don’t get things right. 

The learning here will be how to learning and support packages are designed to meet the 

specific needs of older people and the frequency of support to maintain and support their 

ongoing interaction with digital technology. 

People who are online but restricted 

For those that were online but restricted (75 responses), when asked what prevented them from 

making the most of being online these were the main reasons cited: 

1. Lack of knowledge 56 

2. Security worries  8 

3. Cost   7 

4. No need for it  6 

5. Lack of time  5 

6. Family do things for them 3 

7. Feel they are too old 1 

The largest group of online but restricted users was the 75-84 age group (29 people or 9.8%) 

followed by people aged 65-74 (22 or 7.4%) and people aged 85+ (12 or 4.1%). 

The primary barrier to people of all ages was training and knowing what the technology 

could be used for.   

Nudge factors 

Understanding how people who are online use the internet can 

help their peers who are offline to better understand the usefulness 

of getting online or accessing the internet. 

“I attended a 

computer course but 

I can’t learn as fast 

as the youngsters so 

I got lost and gave 

up” 

Peter, 71 

“I use Skype to speak to 

my son and grandson in 

Canada, I wouldn’t get to 

see him growing up 

otherwise” 

Betty, 82 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
12 

Of the 91 online active users, people aged 65-74 were the most active online (35 or 39.7% of 

active online users) followed by people aged 75-84 (30 or 34.1%). 

Online users were asked about the three things they go online for most.  The purpose was to better 

understand what different people are going online for so real and practical examples and 

messages could be developed to encourage people to get online based on the experience of their 

peers. 

 

 

 

 

Use examples Total 55-64 65-74 75-84 85+ 
1. Communicating with others 153 14 53 56 30 

2. Getting information, news and entertainment  142 15 47 55 25 

3. Daily living tasks 86 8 40 23 15 

4. Pursuing leisure, hobbies and interests 43 4 14 22 3 

5. Other 14 0 5 6 3 

6. Accessing support and services 7 3 3 0 1 

Interestingly, using the internet to access support and services 

ranked very low and this will have a significant impact on channel 

shift strategies. More needs to be done to understand why this is, 

for example, whether levels of knowledge and awareness are too 

low (i.e. greater promotion is needed) or whether the target 

audiences see the internet as a feasible and acceptable medium for 

accessing services (i.e. behavioural change and service redesign).  

The 2009 LGA report into advice, information and advocacy, particularly 

the website review section, might be helpful here. 

Location and media use 

Of the 200 people who were online, the majority went online at home (94%) and only 9 used 

community facilities like the library and the Open Learning Centre. 

In this group, the 65-74 year age group were the largest group accessing the Internet on the 

go using mobile or portable technologies (16 or 9.8% of all online users) followed by people aged 

75-84 (7 people or 4.3%). 

"I really want to use 

the internet but I 

can’t afford it on my 

own and it’s tricky 

getting to the library 

every time" 

John, 62 

http://www.local.gov.uk/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=4eb0f9f9-b4f8-4344-892d-8c893f806746&groupId=10180


Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
13 

 

 

 

Media 

When asked which media they used to go online, for all people who 

are online, laptops and tablets were fairly equal in popularity - 84 

or 51.5% used laptops and 76 or 46.6% used tablets.  

The next most popular options were personal computer with 60 

using this method (36.8%) followed by smartphones with 32 using 

these (19.6%). (As respondents could make multiple choices, 

percentages will not add up). 

Slightly more of the 65-74 age group are using static technology 

(computers and laptops) over mobile (tablets and smart phones) 

with a split of 59 and 48 respectively, whereas the 75-84 age group is very close at 39 using static 

and 35 using mobile. 

There is, however, an indication of trend. The general consensus when talking to people who were 

new to using the internet is that they have found that using a tablet is a lot easier and less 

daunting.  Those that have been using the internet for a long time however seem to prefer the 

more static technologies as this is what they have been used to. 

Of all online users, women mostly use laptops and tablets, men mostly use laptops and PC.  

There is a no significant difference between men and women using smart phones to go online 

(12% of men against 11.4% of women) and no men used an e-reader against 6 women using this 

method.  However, the numbers are so small, it is impractical to device any meaning from this 

information at this stage.  

As the data indicates there is no real preference for different technologies, the implication 

is that online information should be designed for desktop and mobile technologies to 

ensure it is fully accessible.   

Frequency of Use 

Those that were online were asked how often they used the internet using a number of definitions 

including: 

 Addict! - daily, throughout the day 

 Active - daily 

 Moderate - every week or so 

Of the 164 who replied to the question, the majority indicated they were moderate or active users 

(135 or 82%) 

"I struggled using a 

computer because I 

was scared about doing 

something wrong, but I 

feel much more 

comfortable with my 

tablet” 

June, 79 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
14 

 

There were more addicts in the 65-74 age group than any other. For the 74-84 age group, more 

indicated they were marginally more active users than moderate users and for the 85+ age group, 

the respondents were almost equally spread between ‘Moderate’ (10 people) and ‘Active’ (9 

people). However, the numbers at this level of analysis are very small and conclusions should be 

drawn with caution.  

Apps 

It was clear from the Ascot Retirement Fair held at Ascot Racecourse in August 2014 that a 

number of people were unfamiliar with the term App, what their function was and where they could 

be found.  However, when explained with visual prompts and examples, there was some interest.  

The survey sought to build upon this and that used a tablet to get online were asked if they had 

downloaded any particular Apps that they used regularly.   

The most popular included Games, Skype, Facebook, TV catch up and BBC News.   

There was a large proportion however, that had been given their tablet my family or friends who 

had already downloaded Apps for them so many were unaware of what had been downloaded or 

was already part of the device.   

The implication for commissioners is recognising that awareness and understanding of 

Apps appears to be low within this target demographic group at the present time. 

Quality of life 

When asked to what extent they agreed with the statement 

“Getting online could improve my quality of life”, of the total 

number of respondents, more people agree that online 

access improves quality of life (158 people or 53.7%) than 

disagree (102 people or 34.7%). Thirty four (34) people (or 

11.6%) were unsure. 

 

 

 

 

 

“I’ve not looked back since 

learning how to use the 

internet – I couldn’t live 

without it now” 

Derek, 65 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
15 

The people whose status was ‘Offline and uninterested’ were most likely to disagree with the 

statement and conversely, all other categories agreed with the statement. 

Frequency of use 

Agreement increased with frequency of use with active and addicted most likely to agree with the 

statement. 

Age 

Correlated with age, those in the 3 younger categories (55-64, 65-74 and 75-84) were more 

likely to agree with the statement (121 choosing to either agree or strongly agree) compared to 

55 that either disagreed or strongly disagreed.  This switches in the 85+ category however with 

only 29 agreeing with the statement and 46 disagreeing. 

Gender 

From this sample, male respondents are more likely to agree or strongly agree (66.2%) than 

disagree (23.9%) that online access improves quality of life.  Women respondents were more 

equal in their views with 49.7% agreeing or strongly agreeing and 38.1% disagreeing with the 

statement. 

The 55-64 age group was the most supportive, with only 2 disagreeing with the statement.  

2 people did not respond to the question. 

Media type 

Interestingly, those people using mobile or portable technologies (laptops, tablets and smart 

phones) agreed with the statement more than people using static technology such as PCs, 

suggesting there may be a link between portability and the derived benefits derived. 

Overall, more people agreed or strongly agreed with the statement than disagreed or 

strongly disagreed which supports the argument for channel shift. 

 

Phase 3 – Pilot Schemes 

Introduction 

Following on from the results of the survey and research of local services available, and to find out 

best practice for getting more people online, three pilot schemes were proposed and agreed by the 

Digital Steering Group.  



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
16 

The pilot schemes trialled were: a Digital Champion Training Course, Digital Tea Parties and Drop-

in Sessions. 

The schemes developed learning for commissioners as to how to design and deliver 

training, in terms of curriculum, accessible content, environment, pace and teaching style. 

Digital Champions 

As part of the pilot schemes Age Concern Bracknell Forest and the Community Learning Team 

designed a 6 week digital champion training course.  The idea behind this was to teach a group 

of novices to become more confident in the use of technology so that they could then impart this 

knowledge to others of roughly the same age as the target group in a ‘non jargon’ way that was 

easier to understand.  

Nine volunteers attended the first 4 sessions to learn how to use a tablet and then a further 4 

attended the last 2 sessions on training styles and safeguarding adults (as they already knew how 

to use a tablet). The majority were retired with an age range of 45-75 plus one graduate student 

who is 23. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Since the digital champion training the volunteers have so far given up a total of 112 hours to help 

at the events detailed below. 

Feedback from the course is that the majority feel more confident with using tablets and really 

valued tuition and the chance to learn.  

Digital Tea Parties  

The idea behind the digital tea parties was to introduce people with very little interest in technology 

to the benefits of the internet in a relaxed environment.  Using the Digital Champions as 

volunteers, the parties were about finding out the interests and needs of the attendees and 

showing them how the internet could help them, rather than teaching them how to use it.  Along 

“I thought the teaching was simple and 

informative, no pressure, just learning 

the basics.  I enjoyed mixing with the 

people that attended which makes it 

worthwhile to me and hopefully they 

enjoyed it too” 

Diane, 40’s (Digital Champion) 

“I feel very lucky to have been given the 

opportunity to be trained on the course. 

It has not only helped me in passing on 

skills of computers, laptops and tablets 

but I have learnt to listen to our older 

people who have a need to talk and 

pass on their expertise” 

Mike, 72 (Digital Champion) 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
17 

with the sweetener of tea and cake on hand, it was hoped that this would then encourage them to 

want to learn more. 

Three digital tea parties were run and all were a success.  For the first one there were a total of 21 

guests turn up and 10 of our volunteers.  EE provided internet at the venue and came along 

with 4 members of staff to help.  They also provided the majority of the cakes for the morning.  The 

second party was a lot smaller with 8 guests and 6 volunteers and the third party saw 12 guests 

and 8 volunteers take part with EE providing the internet hotspots again. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Those attending the tea parties completed a feedback form to find out their current skills, what they 
would like to learn and how and where they would like to learn this. 
 

 16 stated they would prefer one to one training 

 9 stated they would be happy with small group sessions 

 Only 1 said they would want formal training 
 

 19 would be happy to attend sessions at community centres 

 5 would like it at their sheltered housing schemes 

 and 3 would like it at home 

These are some of the general comments made: 

 ‘Has enlightened me on being able to use an iPad – given me more confidence’ 

 ‘I have really enjoyed it’ 

 ‘Most helpful – especially one to one help’ 

 ‘Very, very good individual tuition – really helpful’ 

 ‘Very interesting and informative’ 

 ‘Very good, more please. Just the same’ 

 ‘I have learned a great deal’ 

 ‘Things I wanted to know, all clear now – I enjoyed very much’ 

 ‘Gave me the confidence to purchase a tablet or iPad’ 

 ‘Very helpful – I found out meanings to words I didn’t know before’ 

The majority of people that attended expressed an interest in further help. 

“At the well organised events the clients 

were all very interested to learn and I felt 

they really appreciated the help and 

instruction provided by the helper 

volunteers.  All the people I was able to help 

were keen to receive more information and 

more guidance in the use of their tablets or 

laptops” 

Keith, 62 (Digital Champion) 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
18 

Drop In Sessions 

The Drop in Sessions were run as a follow on from the Digital Tea Parties to provide ongoing 

support for those who wanted more help.  They were at various locations across the borough to 

include as many people as possible and the Digital Champions volunteered to provide the support. 

A total of nine drop in sessions were run and have proved to be a real success and well attended.  

Each session has seen 6-9 guests turning up with 4-7 volunteers helping out each time. The 

wide variety of help that was needed was recorded, as listed below: 

 Internet Searches 

 Maps – general use, searching for old properties, using Google Earth 

 Facebook  – privacy settings, unfollowing posts, local groups 

 Emails – unsubscribing from junk email, setting up an email app, adding attachments 

 Basics of the laptop - practicing using the mouse 

 Downloading Apps 

 Skype and Facetime 

 General information on iPads and tablets, pricing etc. 

 Photos – general use, organising into folders, editing 

 Personal settings on their tablet i.e. where icons are placed, calendar etc. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

“I am active on the internet, but now 

more intuitive like the young, so one to 

one help is invaluable. Some of us 

older people are very involved with life 

and need to be able to cope with 

modern technology. The help provided 

by having one to one has helped me to 

keep on with my charitable work” 

Gisela, 66 (attended 2 sessions) 

“I think I really am catching up a bit with 

technology now – it is life changing. It 

is much easier to contact family and 

friends and on line banking saves a 

long walk. My confidence in the use of 

my tablet has improved so much I will 

continue to avail myself of all you offer 

in the future” 

Gene, 91 (attended 3 sessions) 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
19 

Results 

In the last 2 months the project has helped a total of 51 individual people and 22 of these have 

been helped on more than one occasion. From the total, only 6 people have said they would not 

be interested in any further help.  Eight of the attendees have wanted help with a laptop and the 

remaining 41 have either wanted help with a current tablet or advice about which one to buy.  The 

age scale has been a real mix ranging from 50 up to 91 years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

It has been increasingly found that some older people really want to learn how to use their tablets, 

but without regular help to get them started they are too scared to try anything new.  The formal 

training sessions are good for them to learn the basics, but they only learn generic things and not 

necessarily things specific to what they want.  Once they know the basics, then a lot of people 

seem to benefit from some of 1-1 time.  This way their specific queries and questions can be 

answered and at a pace they are comfortable with.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case Study 

Marion, 72, was helped to enable her to do her shopping 

online and she was perfect example of how the elderly 

need ongoing support. She was seen once a week for 5 

weeks and it was only in the 6th week that she was able to 

complete the transaction on her own.  The last three times 

she had attempted to do the shopping online before the 

session, but each time something happened and she didn’t 

understand how to get round the problem. She said herself 

that without the continued support she would definitely 

have given up. 

 

Case Study 

In one session Joy, 70, was helped with a random selection of problems.  

This included:  

 Setting up her email on the App on her iPad (she had previously been 
logging in via the internet every time she wanted to  see her emails 
and having to enter her details each time)  

 Showing her how to unsubscribe from emails she didn’t want (she 
didn’t even know this was possible) 

 Showing her how to move icons on her iPad so that the ones she 
used most were all together in one place 

 Showing her how to change her profile picture on Facebook and how 
to unfollow or unfriend people (who she had accidentally liked) 

 Introduce her to local Facebook groups like ‘Bygone Bracknell’, where 
she immediately found people she recognised and had worked with 
50 years ago! 

Although some of these things could have been found out at a group session, 

a fair few of her problems were specific and might not have otherwise been 

picked up if it was not on a 1-1 basis. 

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
20 

Promotion 

At each event we have asked attendees how they heard about it to track which methods worked.  

The results are detailed below: 

Method Number of attendees from this method 

Promoted Through Housing Scheme 21 

Age Concern Newsletter 7 

Attending Crown Wood Bingo 5 

Direct Call from Age Concern Contacts List 5 

Tesco Flier Handout 3 

Word of Mouth 3 

U3A Email 3 

EE Shop Poster 1 

Bracknell Leisure Centre Poster 1 

Online Newspaper Event 1 

Care for Yourself Leaflet 1 

Attended Previous Event 22 

 

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
21 

Action Plan 

Moving Forward 

There are still many ways of progressing the project to try and encourage the uptake of internet 

use.  Ideas for this include:  

 Teaming up with care providers to train the care staff to encourage digital use. For the most 
isolated who don’t have close family to encourage them online and reassure them it’s safe, 
it would fall to the care staff to do this. 

 The need for ongoing recruitment and training of new volunteers. 

 Working to encourage sheltered housing schemes to introduce Broadband to communal 
areas as standard. 

 Opening up the project to the whole community (not just the elderly) to help those in need 
who may be younger or have disabilities. 

 Introduce online security sessions to help overcome the fear that many elderly people have 
about going online.  

 Working with external partners and building relationships to be able to offer deals and 
advise on tablets and broadband. 
 

For continuation of the project it would require an individual to coordinate the following in a part 

time role: 

 Arrange dates and times of sessions 
Working with various different venues and housing schemes to provide suitable facilities for 
the lowest cost possible 

 Coordinate the volunteers 
Letting them know dates, ensuring there are enough numbers at each session, providing 
any more training if necessary 

 Recruit and train more volunteers  
Volunteers will come and go so there is a real need to keep up the recruitment of new 
members and to have a good number on the books to help with last minute situations 

 Ensure all equipment is available at each event  
A lot of people attending have their own devices but to encourage new users you need to 
have equipment on hand for them to try out.  As an expansion of this, having different 
accessories would be a great help for people to try things out like detachable keyboards for 
tablets, wireless mouse for laptops etc. 

 Ongoing promotion  
To raise awareness of the project and encourage more people along to the events including 
press releases, fliers, posters and attending local events etc. 

 Ongoing progression  
To expand the project into different areas as detailed above 

 Funding 
To research funding options to keep the project going  
 

It is likely that if the events and volunteer support can continue to run then the word will start to 

spread and the project will grow organically.  Once regular sessions are up and running then the 

organisation of the project will be easier to run, but it will still require someone to take a lead on it 

and therefore funding will be needed.   

Crowthorne Library have hosted two drop in sessions and although they are happy to continue 

providing the space and WIFI, they do not have the resources or time to organise volunteers and 

actively promote each session.  They also don’t have any tablets for people to ‘play’ on if they are 

attending the session and don’t have their own. 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
22 

Appendix 1 – Survey questions (from hard copy) 

About you 

What age group are you in? 

Please select ONE answer 

 16-19 

 20-24 

 25-34 

 35-44 

 45-54 

 55-64 

 65-74 

 75-84 

 85+ 

What is your post code? 

This information will not identify you.  

 

 

Are you: 

Please select ONE answer 

 Male   Female 

Do you consider yourself to have a health problem or disability which has 
lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months? 

Please select ONE answer 

 Yes   No (go to question 6) 

If you said “yes”, are your day-to-day activities limited because of your health 
problem or disability? 

Please select ONE answer 

 Yes   No 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
23 

How you use the Internet 

In this survey “Online” mean using an electronic or digital device such as a computer to access 

information (e.g. web pages) or communicating with other people (e.g. email).  

Please do not include online activity for work purposes.  

Are you? 

Please select ONE answer 

 

 Offline and not interested ................................................... (go to question 0) 

 Offline but interested in getting online ................................ (go to question 0) 

 Online but restricted user ................................................... (go to question 0) 

 Online and active user ....................................................... (go to question 0) 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
24 

You described yourself as  
"offline and uninterested" 

Why is getting online not an interest / priority for you? 
(e.g. not relevant, lack knowledge, trust and safety, too expensive, too technical, 
it's for the kids, someone else does it for me, etc.) 

 

 

 

 

 

Do you know anyone with access to the Internet?  

Please select ALL that apply 

 I don’t know anyone 

 Relative 

 Friend 

 Carer 

 A support organisation 

 Other  
 (please tell us about other people you know with access to the Internet) 

 

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
25 

Out of interest, which of the following terms have you heard of?  

Please select ALL that apply 

 Personal computer (also known as a desktop computer) 

 Laptop 

 Tablet (e.g. iPad, Android, etc.) 

 Mobile phone (generally buttons you press) 

 "Smart" phone (generally with a screen you touch, e.g. iPhone, 
Windows phone, Blackberry 

  Games console (e.g. Xbox, PS, Wii, etc.) 

 Internet TV or TV smart box (e.g. Tivo) 

 E-reader (e.g. Kindle, Kobo, Nook etc.) 

 Email (e.g. Outlook, Hotmail, Gmail, Yahoo, etc.) 

 App (short for ‘application’) 

 

To what extent do you agree with this statement? 

“Getting online could improve my quality of life” 

Please select ONE answer 



Strongly agree 



Agree 

 

Neither agree or 

disagree 

 

Disagree 

 

Strongly 

 

Thank you for completing this survey. 

Please return to: 

Digital Inclusion Co-ordinator  

Age Concern Bracknell Forest 

27 World’s End Hill 

Bracknell RG12 0XH 

01344 428074 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
26 

You described yourself as  
"offline but interested in getting online" 

Do you know anyone with access to the Internet?  

Please select ALL that apply 

 I don’t know anyone 

 Relative 

 Friend 

 Carer 

 A support organisation 

 Other  
 (please tell us about other people you know with access to the Internet) 

 

 

Out of interest, which of the following terms have you heard of?  

Please select ALL that apply 

 Personal computer (also known as a desktop computer) 

 Laptop 

 Tablet (e.g. iPad, Android, etc.) 

 Mobile phone (generally buttons you press) 

 "Smart" phone (generally with a screen you touch, e.g. iPhone, 
Windows phone, Blackberry 

  Games console (e.g. Xbox, PS, Wii, etc.) 

 Internet TV or TV smart box (e.g. Tivo) 

 E-reader (e.g. Kindle, Kobo, Nook etc.) 

 Email (e.g. Outlook, Hotmail, Gmail, Yahoo, etc.) 

 App (short for ‘application’) 

 

What is stopping you from making those first steps in getting online?  

 

 

 

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
27 

What THREE things most interest you online? 

Please click the options below in order of preference. 

 Finding out about work opportunities 

 Finding out about volunteering 

 Communicating with others (e.g. email, video calls, etc) 

 Pursuing leisure, hobbies and entertainment 

 Getting information, news and entertainment 

 Doing daily living tasks (e.g. shop, bank, make bookings, etc) 

 Accessing support and services (e.g. council, community groups etc) 

 Other 

This survey will help inform information and training to help people get online.  

If you would like: 

 to be kept up to date about this research, or 
 to tell us more about your experiences of getting online 
 to get information on help to get online from Bracknell Forest Council or Age 

Concern Bracknell Forest 

then please provide us with your telephone number or email address. 

Please tell us your name: 

Please give us your email address: 

Or if you prefer: 

Which telephone number would you prefer us to contact you on? 

To what extent do you agree with this statement? 

“Getting online could improve my quality of life” 

Please select ONE answer 



Strongly agree 



Agree 

 

Neither agree or 

disagree 

 

Disagree 

 

Strongly 

Thank you for completing this survey. 

Please return to: 

Digital Inclusion Co-ordinator  

Age Concern Bracknell Forest 

27 World’s End Hill 

Bracknell RG12 0XH 

01344 428074 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
28 

You described yourself as  
an "online but restricted user" 

Where do you access the Internet for PERSONAL use?  

Please select ALL that apply 

 My home 

 My work 

 At friends' house 

 At a family members' house 

 Community (e.g. libraries, voluntary or other organisations) 

 Everywhere on my mobile/smart phone 

 Other (please tell us more) 

 

 

How do you get online / access the Internet?  

Please select ALL that apply 

 Personal computer 

 Laptop  

 Tablet (e.g. iPad, Android, etc.) 

 Mobile phone 

 "Smart" phone 

 Games console (e.g. Xbox, PS, Wii, etc.) 

 Internet TV or TV smart box (e.g. Tivo, etc.) 

 E-reader (e.g. Kindle, Kobo, etc.) 

 Other (please tell us more) 

 

 

 

 

What is stopping you from making the most of the Internet and information 
technology? 
(e.g. cost, time, training, safety online, etc.)  

 

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
29 

Do you know anyone with access to the Internet?  

Please select ALL that apply 

 I don’t know anyone 

 Relative 

 Friend 

 Carer 

 A support organisation 

 Other  
 (please tell us about other people you know with access to the Internet) 

 

What THREE things most interest you online? 

Please click the options below in order of preference. 

 

 Finding out about work opportunities 

 Finding out about volunteering 

 Communicating with others (e.g. email, video calls, etc) 

 Pursuing leisure, hobbies and entertainment 

 Getting information, news and entertainment 

 Doing daily living tasks (e.g. shop, bank, make bookings, etc) 

 Accessing support and services (e.g. council, community groups etc) 

 Other 
 

Do you use any ‘apps’ and if so, which ones? 

 

Using the following definitions: 

 Addict! - daily, throughout the day 

 Active - daily 

 Moderate - every week or so 

 Inactive - dip in and out on a monthly basis 

 Needs only basis - when I want specific information 

 

How active are you online? 

 


Addict! 



Active 

 

Moderate 

 

Inactive 

 

Needs only basis 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
30 

(For Addict! and Active users only) 

We would like more people like you! 

Would you be willing to share your knowledge and experience with others in a quote or a short 

case study? 

 Yes, I’d love to – my details are below 

 No thanks! 

This survey will help inform information and training to help people get 
online.  

If you would like: 

 to be kept up to date about this research, or 
 to tell us more about your experiences of getting online 
 to get information on help to get online from Bracknell Forest Council or 

Age Concern Bracknell Forest 

then please provide us with your telephone number or email address. 

Please tell us your name: 

Please give us your email address: 

Or if you prefer: 

Which telephone number would you prefer us to contact you on? 

To what extent do you agree with this statement? 

“Getting online could improve my quality of life” 

Please select ONE answer 



Strongly agree 



Agree 

 

Neither agree or 

disagree 

 

Disagree 

 

Strongly 

Thank you for completing this survey. 

Please return to: 

Digital Inclusion Co-ordinator  

Age Concern Bracknell Forest 

27 World’s End Hill 

Bracknell RG12 0XH 

01344 428074 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
31 

You described yourself as 
an "online and active user" 

 

Please think about the advantages of being online. 

Where do you access the Internet for PERSONAL use?  

Please select ALL that apply 

 My home 

 My work 

 At friends' house 

 At a family members' house 

 Community (e.g. libraries, voluntary or other organisations) 

 Everywhere on my mobile/smart phone 

 Other (please tell us more) 

 

 

How do you get online / access the Internet?  

Please select ALL that apply 

 Personal computer 

 Laptop  

 Tablet (e.g. iPad, Android, etc.) 

 Mobile phone 

 "Smart" phone 

 Games console (e.g. Xbox, PS, Wii, etc.) 

 Internet TV or TV smart box (e.g. Tivo, etc.) 

 E-reader (e.g. Kindle, Kobo, etc.) 

 Other (please tell us more) 

 

 

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
32 

What THREE things most interest you online? 

Please click the options below in order of preference. 

 

 Finding out about work opportunities 

 Finding out about volunteering 

 Communicating with others (e.g. email, video calls, etc) 

 Pursuing leisure, hobbies and entertainment 

 Getting information, news and entertainment 

 Doing daily living tasks (e.g. shop, bank, make bookings, etc) 

 Accessing support and services (e.g. council, community groups etc) 

 Other 
 

Do you use any ‘apps’ and if so, which ones? 

 

Using the following definitions: 

 Addict! - daily, throughout the day 

 Active - daily 

 Moderate - every week or so 

 Inactive - dip in and out on a monthly basis 

 Needs only basis - when I want specific information 

 

How active are you online? 

 


Addict! 



Active 

 

Moderate 

 

Inactive 

 

Needs only basis 

(For Addict! and Active users only) 

We would like more people like you! 

Would you be willing to share your knowledge and experience with others in a quote or a short 

case study? 

 Yes, I’d love to – my details are below 

 No thanks! 

This survey will help inform information and training to help people get 
online.  



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
33 

If you would like: 

 to be kept up to date about this research, or 
 to tell us more about your experiences of getting online 
 to get information on help to get online from Bracknell Forest Council or 

Age Concern Bracknell Forest 

then please provide us with your telephone number or email address. 

Please tell us your name: 

Please give us your email address: 

Or if you prefer: 

Which telephone number would you prefer us to contact you on? 

To what extent do you agree with this statement? 

“Getting online could improve my quality of life” 

Please select ONE answer 



Strongly agree 



Agree 

  

Neither agree or 

disagree 

  

Disagree 

  

Strongly 

Thank you for completing this survey. 

Please return to: 

Digital Inclusion Co-ordinator  

Age Concern Bracknell Forest 

27 World’s End Hill 

Bracknell RG12 0XH 

01344 428074 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
34 

Appendix 2 - Terms of Reference for the Digital Inclusion 
Group 

Terms of Reference 

Name of Working 

Group 

Digital Inclusion Group 

Purpose of Working 

Group 

To increase use of the internet by all those residents of Bracknell Forest 

who are currently not online. 

In particular, to identify actions that will deliver outcomes in an integrated 

manner against Priority 5 in the Older People’s Partnership Board Older 

People’s Strategy: “Access to the Internet and the skills to use it” 

To develop a more coordinated approach and better support for people to 

access information on the internet directly or through enabling 

mechanisms 

Help people who cannot or do not want toaccess the internet but who 

nevertheless need online information to make decisions about services 

Learn more about what technologies are more or less acceptable to 

specific audiences so that approaches to reaching them can be used 

more effectively for engagement 

Authority Established by the Customer Contact Strategy Group at the meeting of 

24 September 2012.  

Expanded and relaunched by the Older People’s Partnership Board at 

the meeting of 4 December 2013 

Commencement of 

Working Group 

Originally: September 2012 

Refresh: January 2014 

Frequency Bi -monthly 

 

Termination of Working 

Group 

Upon completion of the tasks and delivery of the objectives or as advised 

by the Older People’s Partnership Board, which ever is the sooner and 

no later than March 2016. 

Membership extent  Three Members of the Older People’s Partnership Board 

 Senior officers of Partnership member organisations 

 Other people with skills, knowledge and experience as required to 
complete the tasks and deliver the objectives of the Group 

Membership type  Self-selection from the members of the Older People’s 
Partnership Board 

 Co-opted members selected subject to an appraisal of the skills 
assets to deliver the tasks and objectives of the Group as 
assessed by the Board 

 For the purposes of continuity of delivery, substitutes not 
permitted 

Membership grade Operational decision makers and influencers: 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
35 

 Managers 

 Commissioners 

 Operational staff involved in design and delivery of the service 

Chairman To be elected by the Board 

 

Members of Working 

Group 

Agency or 

organisation 

Role or specialism 

Age Concern 

Bracknell Forest 

Tracey Hedgecox (Chief Officer) 

Agent and services provider for older people 

Bracknell Forest 

Council 

Angela Harris, Interim Head of Long-term community 

support, ASCHH, BFC 

Older people’s services  

Cllr Dale Birch, Elected Member, BFC  

Role TBA 

  

  

  

Commissioner, 

BFC 

Kieth Naylor, Joint Commissioning Officer, ASCHH, 

BFC 

Administration, support and liaison 

Objectives of Working 

Group 

1. To learn about the issue and become champions to the Older 
People’s Partnership Board and within respective organisations 

2. To coordinate actions that support the delivery of digital inclusion 
activity across the Bracknell Forest Partnership 

3. Produce a ‘catalogue’ of the current support offer available to 
older people to access the Internet or be supported to do so and 
identify gaps 

4. Produce a map of WiFi-spots in the Borough, with information 
about how to access them 

5. Produce an “App map” to determine the kinds of software & apps 
used by older people in order to create a directory of useful tools 
that can be promoted to older people to improve health and 
wellbeing 

6. Identify projects, schemes, research, information and other 
activity that will support the achievement of Priority 5 for 
promotion through the Board and its networks 

7. Identify, assess and evaluate existing research in this area 

8. Undertake evidence based research as required to establish 
baselines, targets and measures to measure success and 
information to inform commissioning decisions including (but not 
exclusive to): 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
36 

a. The scope and extent of Internet and technology use, 
disaggregated by equalities criteria such as age, gender, 
etc. 

b. Exploration of perceptions, fears and benefits of using 
ICT, e.g. financial security online, so that fears can be 
addressed, countered, mitigated or removed and benefits, 
(such as social exclusion and empowerment) promoted 

c. Exposure to and acceptance of different types of ICT to 
determine technology which is acceptable to and feasible 
for older people 

d. Physical settings for accessing ICT and learning about 
ICT, e.g. inreach, outreach, drop-ins, courses and classes 

e. Explore role and impact of communications technology 
such as Skype on social exclusion and familial 
relationships  

9. Explore how champions might be identified, recruited and a plan 
put in place to deploy them to support the use of the Internet by 
older people: 

a. local businesses could share and deliver their expertise to 
improve the knowledge of the local population and in 
return increase Corporate Social Responsibility  

b. older people might act as champions or reference groups 
to test the feasibility of any proposals 

c. younger people (perhaps NEETS?) might use their 
expertise in controlled settings to gain volunteering 
opportunities, references and bridge intergenerational 
gaps 

 

Outcomes/Outputs of 

Working Group 

A new Action Plan for the consideration of the wider OPPB at its meeting 

in March 2014. 

Outcomes 

1. The Group and the Board will have learned about technologies 
that are acceptable to older audiences so that approached to 
reaching older people and empowering them with new 
technologies can be learned. 

2. There will be an evidence base relating to online information 
needs and usage of internet technology by older people in 
Bracknell Forest  

3. Key messages and promotional activity will be developed and 
distributed through the Board to its wider networks so that older 
people may benefit from technology 

4. A co-ordinated support co-ordinated approach and better support 
for people to access information on the internet directly or through 
enabling mechanisms 

Outputs 

5. Case studies and examples of good practice developed and 
shared to support better commissioning of ICT solutions for older 
people 

6. Create and publish an action plan and for each action ensure no 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
37 

recommendations are made to stakeholders without: 

a. The action and the outcome being clear 

b. Resources for delivery being specified 

c. A lead agency for delivery being  identified 

d. A timescale for delivery being set out 

e. A measure for successful delivery being agreed 

f. Progress (where status can be identified) being stated 

 

Measures of Success  1. Engagement of older people with technology will increase in line 
with expectations set by evidence based research 

2. Increased number of people 50+ attending free IT courses, open 
events, drop-ins, etc. 

3. Improved levels of understanding of and satisfaction with ICT 
solutions 

4. Increased number of people reached through outreach / digital 
inclusion, Increased use of IT by people 50+ in communal areas, 
e.g. libraries, sheltered schemes as measured by age profiling on 
surveys and consultations, etc 

5. Self-reported change in perceptions of older people (and others) 
in relation to ICT use and access measured regularly at start and 
end of working group projects 

6. Self-reported intergenerational activity  

7. Self-reported reduced social isolation  

Decision Making 

Powers 

None. 

Recommendations to OPPB unless authority delegated by Board. 

Dependent Working 

Groups and/or 

meetings 

Dependent upon: 

 Older People’s Partnership Board 

 Customer Contact Strategy Group 

Dependent documents  Older People’s Partnership Board: 
o Strategy  
o Equality Screening Record 
o Action plan 

 Bracknell Forest Council’s Customer Contact Strategy 
o Strategy 
o Equality Screening Record 
o Action plan 

Administrative 

Arrangements 
  

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
38 

Action Plan 

Introduction 

Using the classifications from the Age UK London “Wealth of the Web: Broadening Horizons 

Online” Report (2013), the Digital Inclusion Group will use the following classifications of people 

based on a common aggregation of their views of digital inclusion: 

 

The focus of the work of the Digital Inclusion Group will be: 

 Group 1: Offline but interested – work will be undertaken to explore fears and barriers 
and relevance of digital inclusion to daily life to promote benefits of being online and 
overcome barriers to first use 

 Group 2: Online but restricted – work will be undertaken to find out more about 
restrictions and usage to maximise benefits and encourage increased usage 

 Group 3: Online and proactive users – minimal amounts of work will be undertaken to 
explore how digital inclusion supports people in this category so that positive messages can 
be developed around benefits and positive outcomes  

The diagram shows movement representing changing views of people relating to digital inclusion.  

It is anticipated that by concentrating on the three groups above that messages will filter to 

“Group 4: offline and uninterested” users through natural diffusion of information and peer 

pressures. 

Current barriers to delivery 

 Lack of capacity 

Offline but 

interested 

Online but 

restricted 

users 

Offline and 

uninterested 

Online and 

proactive 

users 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
39 

Mitigating factors 

 Vodafone and Barclays are promoting ICT amongst older people 

 Clive Malcolm, Comms ASCHH & Jacob Leveritt, BFC Comms and Social media have 
knowledge we could benefit from 

 Opportunities for partners to support the delvery of the action plan 

 Opportunities for young people who are not in education, employment of training to 
participate in action planning and delivery, maximising use of their ICT expertise for inter-
generational outcomes 

 Outcomes are of benefit to the entire council and wider stakeholders – therefore potential to 
draw in skills from around the Council – Good to Great workforce outcomes 

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
40 

1. Public 

What we know Where we think there are 
gaps 

What we think will fill the 
gap 

Evidence from a 

BFVA research 

project indicated that 

cost is not a barrier to 

people accessing and 

using ICT 

National research 

indicates that people 

are unclear on the 

relevance of digital 

inclusion, have 

specific fears about 

using technology  

Some people are 

curious about ICT 

and what it offers in 

terms of accessing 

information that would 

help them in their 

daily lives 

Different people are 

using ICT in different 

ways that benefits 

their lifestyle and 

quality of life e.g. 

impact of 

communications 

technology such as 

Skype on social 

exclusion and familial 

relationships. 

We know that there 

are courses available 

to people to help 

them access ICT 

Some, but not all, 

digital information is 

mobile technology 

compatible 

People need to  

 We do not know enough 
about people’s perceptions, 
fears and benefits of using 
ICT which makes it hard for 
us to help people. 

 We do not understand the 
scope and extent of Internet 
and technology use which 
makes it hard to 
communicate with people 

 We do not know how 
different people are using 
ICT so cannot promote 
benefits of digital inclusion to 
other groups 

 There is not enough 
evidence to set baselines 
from which to measure 
success of changed attitudes 
to digital inclusion 

 We do not know enough 
information about the 
physical settings where 
people accessing ICT and 
learning about ICT, e.g. 
inreach, outreach, drop-ins, 
courses and classes. 

 We are not clear about how 
strong or effective the 
marketing communications 
are around courses 

 More information could be 
mobile technology enabled 

Research will be gathered to 

paint a local picture of: 

 Perceptions, fears and 
benefits of digital inclusion to 
address, counter, mitigate or 
remove them 

 Scope and extent of internet 
and technology use 
disaggregated by different 
user groups and equalities 
criteria such as age, gender, 
disability, etc.  

 The technologies and apps 
people are using to meet 
their information and quality 
of life needs 

 Where people are accessing 
ICT or would like to access 
ICT so we can inform the 
provision of wi-fi hotspots in 
the new town centre 

 Baseline measures to know if 
and where we have been 
successful 

 We will map ICT learning 
provision in the Borough and 
find ways to promote it  

 Making sure commissioners 
design for mobile technology 
will increase reach to those 
individuals that do not have 
PC or laptops or broadband 
connectivity 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
41 

 

To overcome gaps we will 

 (ORDERED BY NOT 

RANKED) 

Benefici

ary 

groups 

Who will 

take 

responsi

bility 

When 

will this 

happen 

What will 

happen as a 

result 

Progress 

1.1 Promote free IT 

courses, open events, 

drop-ins, etc.  

Groups 

1 & 2  

Janet 

Berry 

Head of 

Commun

ity 

Learning 

and 

Skills 

 Increasing 

uptake and 

attendance at 

IT courses 

People will 

report 

reduced fears 

/ greater 

confidence in 

using ICT 

People will 

report digital 

information 

as beneficial 

to quality of 

life 

 

1.2 Produce a 

“catalogue” of digital 

inclusion activity in the 

Borough  

Groups 

1 & 2 

Janet 

Berry 

Head of 

Commun

ity 

Learning 

and 

Skills 

 Stakeholders 

will contribute 

information 

Information 

will be 

published 

online for 

offline 

printing 

Stakeholders 

will promote 

the catalogue 

 

1.3 Publish an equality 

screening record  

All 

groups 

Kieth 

Naylor, 

Joint 

Commis

sioning 

Officer 

 Evidence 

regarding 

digital 

inclusion 

disaggregate

d by different 

equalities 

strands will 

be available 

for 

commissionin

g decisions 

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
42 

To overcome gaps we will 

 (ORDERED BY NOT 

RANKED) 

Benefici

ary 

groups 

Who will 

take 

responsi

bility 

When 

will this 

happen 

What will 

happen as a 

result 

Progress 

1.4 Develop a set of 

monitoring criteria for digital 

inclusion activity 

Commis

sioners 

and 

provider

s 

  A set of 

standard 

activity 

measures will 

be available 

to measure 

the success 

of digital 

inclusion 

activity, this 

will help  to 

set baselines 

and change 

in usage by 

the different 

groups 

 

1.5 Group 3 users will 

help create case studies / 

slice of life stories  

All 

groups 

Someon

e from 

an 

agency 

comms 

team 

 Case studies 

will help 

profile 

existing and 

potential 

users and will 

support 

promotional 

activity 

 

1.6 Group 3 users could 

help produce an “App map”  

 

Groups 

1 & 2 

  A list of apps 

will be 

complied into 

a directory to 

promote the 

relevance 

and value of 

digital 

inclusion 

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
43 

To overcome gaps we will 

 (ORDERED BY NOT 

RANKED) 

Benefici

ary 

groups 

Who will 

take 

responsi

bility 

When 

will this 

happen 

What will 

happen as a 

result 

Progress 

1.7 Identify, assess and 

evaluate existing research 

in this area 

All 

groups 

   This needs a 

council wide 

to explore the 

pockets of 

good 

practice.  it 

will also help 

secure local 

data as to 

approches 

and also 

benchmarks 

for progress. 

1.8 Re-purpose 

community safety 

information so that it is 

applicable to all people, not 

just young or vulnerable 

people to help people 

overcome fears of using the 

internet and registration 

with online services 

All 

groups 

   Is this 

already in 

play?  Lets 

get a 

progress 

report first? 

1.9 Explore if older 

people’s digital champions 

are a viable method of 

promoting ICT to older 

people 

Groups 

1 

   What skills 

are required 

and what 

capacity is 

there?  Can 

we use 

champions 

from the 

community – 

real “slice of 

life” stories? 

1.10 younger people 

(perhaps NEETS?) might 

use their expertise in 

controlled settings to gain 

volunteering opportunities, 

references and bridge 

intergenerational gaps 

 

All 

group 

    



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
44 

To overcome gaps we will 

 (ORDERED BY NOT 

RANKED) 

Benefici

ary 

groups 

Who will 

take 

responsi

bility 

When 

will this 

happen 

What will 

happen as a 

result 

Progress 

1.11 Promote digital 

inclusion as part of the 

Assistive Technology 

message for universal 

information provision and 

access to preventative 

resources 

     

1.12 Increase take up of 

GP surgery text messaging 

services 

    Is this 

something 

that we can 

use to bring 

health 

partners on 

board with 

the work? 

1.13 Ensure that digital 

information is mobile 

enabled to maximise reach 

to all users of digital 

services 

    Is this within 

our remit – 

perhaps seek 

assurance?  

Who from 

and who 

does this 

apply to? 

1.14 Piggy back on Ihub 

concept and promotions as 

a major source of 

information for preventative 

care and support 

    Use the 

resources 

around the 

Ihub project 

to promote 

the ihub as 

an online 

directory and 

maximise its 

potential as a 

source of 

relevant and 

up to date 

information 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
45 

To overcome gaps we will 

 (ORDERED BY NOT 

RANKED) 

Benefici

ary 

groups 

Who will 

take 

responsi

bility 

When 

will this 

happen 

What will 

happen as a 

result 

Progress 

1.15 Tap into any digital 

inclusion aspects of the EIF 

project for non-EU migrants 

for the betterment of digital 

information for people from 

the Nepali community 

    This needs to 

be explored 

further with 

Kirsty Hunt in 

Corporate 

Services 

1.16 Exploit opportunities 

from national vehicles 

(such as older people’s day 

in October) to promote the 

message 

    Working 

group of 

OPPB to take 

lead on this 

already 

 



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
46 

2. Commissioners and Stakeholders 

What we know Where we think there are 
gaps 

What we think will fill the 
gap  

There is no standard 

clause in grants or 

contracts to 

encourage providers 

to enable or facilitate 

increase digital 

inclusion or digital 

social inclusion 

There is no 

commissioning 

framework for 

stakeholders to help 

them make decisions 

about commissioning 

services with a digital 

inclusion element to 

them 

There are already a 

number of providers 

using or deploying 

digital solutions 

 In commissioning and 
contracting, 
commissioners and 
providers are not 
routinely supporting 
individuals to access ICT 
to access universal 
services where they wish 
to do so 

 Commissioners and 
providers do not currently 
understand the relevance 
or importance of 
promoting digital 
inclusion in 
commissioned services 

 We are not clear what 
different providers are 
doing to enable digital 
inclusion 

 

 A commissioning guide 
for digital inclusion will be 
developed, this will 
promote the value of 
digital inclusion in service 
commissioning 

 A standard clauses will 
be developed for grants 
and contracts to ensure 
the digital inclusion is 
enabled and facilitated in 
commissioning 

 Identifying providers and 
getting them involved in 
some way with the 
project, perhaps targeting 
specific companies to 
showcase or help 
develop case studies 
around the business 
benefits 

 

 

To overcome gaps we will 

 (ORDERED BY NOT 

RANKED) 

Who will 

take 

responsi

bility 

When will 

this 

happen 

What will 

happen as a 

result 

Progress 

2.1 Stakeholders will be 

contacted to identify and map 

out WiFi-spots in the Borough, 

with information about how to 

access them. 

   Good 

community 

involvement 

programme 

2.2 Key messages about 

digital inclusion and 

promotional activity will be 

developed for stakeholders 

    



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
47 

To overcome gaps we will 

 (ORDERED BY NOT 

RANKED) 

Who will 

take 

responsi

bility 

When will 

this 

happen 

What will 

happen as a 

result 

Progress 

2.3 The Access Group will 

be contacted to identify a 

retailer that would be willing to 

run sessions for different 

groups at different times of day 

to explain mobile and tablet 

technologies 

Cllr Cliff 

Thomso

n 

Older 

People’s 

Champio

n and 

Access 

Group 

liaison 

  Barclays and 

Vodafone are 

running adverts 

targeted at 

older people at 

the present time 

(May 2014)  

2.4 Establish a set of core 

outcome measures that  

professionals may use to 

measure and monitor impact of 

digital inclusion solutions 

   From research 

and what we 

learn from this 

process 

2.5 Explore how a text 

messaging service (like DAAT) 

might be used by other service 

commissioners and providers 

and to what benefit 

    

2.6 Develop a set of self-

reporting questions to measure 

change in perceptions of people 

about ICT use and access 

measured regularly at start and 

end of working group projects 

    

2.7 Develop a question 

around digital inclusion and 

how it has / has not reduced 

social isolation 

   This could tie in 

to the social 

isolation 

measures in the 

Public Health 

Outcomes 

Frameowkr 

2.8 Establish a set of core 

outcome measures that  

professionals may use to 

measure and monitor impact of 

digital inclusion solutions 

    



Digital Inclusion Working Group – Report 

 
48 

To overcome gaps we will 

 (ORDERED BY NOT 

RANKED) 

Who will 

take 

responsi

bility 

When will 

this 

happen 

What will 

happen as a 

result 

Progress 

2.9 Explore the DAAT text 

messaging service and 

additional benefits can be used 

by commissioners and 

providers to signpost services 

    

2.10 Establish guidance on 

promoting digital inclusion, 

including example clauses for 

specifications to promote digital 

inclusion and digital social 

inclusion in service delivery 

     

 

 

“Can’t live 

without it” 

Mr A, 66 



Notes of a meeting of the Later Life Conference Steering Group 
 

Tuesday 31st May 2016 at Bracknell Forest Council, Time Square, Bracknell 
1.30 pm – 2.30 pm 

 
1 Present: 
 
Mira Haynes  Chief Officer OP&LTC, Bracknell Forest Council 
Tracey Hedgecox Chief Executive Officer, Age Concern Bracknell Forest 
Carole Allen  Assistant, Age Concern Bracknell Forest 
Yvette Hockley Volunteer Services Manager, Involve Bracknell Forest 
Cliff Thompson Bracknell Forest Councillor and Trustee Age Concern Bracknell Forest 
Madeline Diver Bracknell Citizens Advice Bureau 
Sherree Westwood Supportive Housing Services Manager, Bracknell Forest Homes 
 
2 Later Life Conference 
 
2.1 The Later Life Conference would be held on Tuesday 4th October 2016 at Bracknell 

Leisure Centre from 10.00 am – 4.00 pm.  The Forest Suite and The Balcony 
(upstairs) had been booked.  The centre had been booked from 9.00 am to 5.00 pm 
to allow time for set up and clear down. The Mayor of Bracknell Forest and Councillor 
Dale Birch would be invited to attend. Dale Birch would be asked to welcome the 
delegates and to outline what the day will cover.  An opening/key note speaker was 
considered a good idea, suggestions welcomed. 

 
2.2 It was agreed that the conference would be entitled “Planning for Later Life”. 
 
2.3 There would be tea, coffee and biscuits for delegates, and food can be purchased 
 from the Sports Centre café if needed. 
 
2.4 The conference would be broken up into presentations and seminars.  Each seminar 

and presentation will run twice so all attendees can attend both sessions if they wish.  
It was suggested that the format could be two presentations including financial 
planning and legal matters making wills, living wills, power of attorney etc.  Possible 
seminars will cover the areas of public health, Forestcare, becoming a carer, 
gardening and volunteering/befriending that type of thing.  Any other ideas would be 
welcomed. 

 
2.5 There would be an area for stalls, called The Market Place.  Businesses would be 

charged for a stall, local charities and groups will be charged a lesser price.  
Donation from stall holders would be required for the raffle to be drawn on the day.  
Suggested stall holders include: 

 

 Bracknell Shopmobility 

 Fire Service 

 National Trust 

 Stroke Association 

 U3A 

 Open Learning Centre 

 Age Concern Bracknell Forest 

 Blood pressure, and sugar testing  

 Bracknell Forest Homes 
 

Stall holders would be given lunch.   



2.6 A Wishing Well would be focus point, where people could write their wishes for 
 retirement.   
 
2.7 Other ideas for the day included a singing session, hands on activities “have a go” 

type of events and other taster sessions.  The essence of the day would be very 
much informal and interactive for the delegates. 

 
2.8 Volunteers will be needed on the day to help.  Mira will organise some people from 
 her department, other volunteers will be needed.   
 
2.7 There will be a survey/feedback form will be prepared and there will be a prize drawn 

from the forms completed to encourage participation 
 
2.8 Advertising the event needed to be arranged, posters, flyers  
 
   
 
 
ACTION:   

1 Mira Haynes to arrange for the Mayor and Councillor Birch to attend the 
conference. 

2 ACBF draft a programme for the event, to decide on layout etc 
3 ACBF to visit Sports Centre to decide on layout and format 
4 Meeting to be arranged for July 
5 All steering group members to come up with suggestions for speaker  
6 Raffle source prizes stallholders to donate items 
7 Advertising, programme, via BFC communications section  



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  1 

 
 
 

Explanation of the Colour coded status boxes 
 
 
The Action Plan contains colour coded status indicators, which show progress against each action as one of: Red, Amber or Green. 
These are shown like this: 
 

   
 
  

  A Red box means that little or no work has started against the project; or the project has slipped behind or that no progress 
has yet been made. 
 

  An Amber box shows that some work has started against the project or that there is still more work to do. 
 

  A Green box shows that the work or project is on track and is proceeding as expected. 
  



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  2 

Priority 1: Effective prevention in supportive communities which promote good health, wellbeing, 
involvement and combat isolation in personally managed ways 
 

Expected Outcomes from this area of work: 

 Older people will report greater connection to their community and be able to access services 

 Trusted community resources will support older people to live and remain independent and safe in the home 

 Older people will be able to report they can live the life they want and have healthier and fulfilled lives  

 

Priority 1: Effective prevention in supportive communities which promote good health, wellbeing, involvement and combat isolation in personally 

managed ways 

 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

1.1.a The Board will seek to 
encourage transport 
providers & schemes, 
particularly for people with 
disabilities, to register on 
iHub  

 

Rifit Hussain-
Curtis, Joint 
Commissioning 
Manager, 
ASCHH, BFC 

 

December 2014  A single repository will be 
created using the iHub which 
will be a resource for 
individuals and organisations 
Borough-wide 

 Organisations will become 
responsible for keeping their 
own data up to date 

 Develop key messages for a 
promotional campaign 

 Increase the number of 
transport schemes registered 
on iHub 

 More people will report greater 
awareness of transport options 

 
COMPLETED 

Changes to the iHub were 
reported to the Board in 
December 2014 

Transport is still an ongoing issue 

and the Council’s Transport 

Manager will be invited to a future 

meeting of the Board to outline 

how the needs of older people 

are being considered. 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  3 

Priority 1: Effective prevention in supportive communities which promote good health, wellbeing, involvement and combat isolation in personally 

managed ways 

 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

in the Borough 

 More people will report use of 
transport provision 

 More people will report 
satisfaction with transport 
provision 

1.1.b The Board will undertake a 
census of activities targeted at 
or of benefit to older people 
from across the Partnership 
and encourage organisations, 
schemes and projects to 
register on the iHub 

Rifit Hussain-Curtis, 
Joint Commissioning 
Manager, ASCHH, 
BFC 

Who else needs to 
be involved 

As a result of action 
1.2, Neil Mathews, 
Transport 
Development 
Manager, BFC 
should also be 
invited to brief the 
Board on issues 
affecting older 
people 

All partners for 
promotion 

 

March 2015  In relation to transport 
development, the Board will have 
opportunity to comment on the 
potential impact on older people  

 The Board will support any 
promotional programme, and 
inform it of the views and needs 
of older people to ensure 
campaigns are successful  

 The Board will encourage 
members to signup to and 
maintain information on the iHub 
and to promote the iHub through 
member networks 

 Increase the number of schemes 
registered on iHub which are 
relevant to older people  

 More people will report greater 
awareness of support and 
services available to them in the 
Borough 

COMPLETED 

IN addition to the note above, the Board 
is asked to encourage members and 
individuals and organisations in 
professional networks ensure records on 
the iHub system are up to date. 

 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  4 

Priority 1: Effective prevention in supportive communities which promote good health, wellbeing, involvement and combat isolation in personally 

managed ways 

 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

1.2 The Board will promote the 
Bus Strategy and partners 
will submit individual 
responses 
(http://consult.bracknell-
forest.gov.uk/portal/transpo
rt/bus_strategy) presented 
by Danny Lamb 

Individuals members 

Danny Lamb, 
Transport 
Consultant, BFC 

15 October 2013  Each Board member will have 
responded giving their 
perspective as a representative of 
the views and experiences of 
older people 

COMPLETED 

Danny Lamb, Transport Consultant for 
BFC presented the strategy and details 
are set out in the minutes of the 
meeting of the Board of September 
2013. 

Various members of the Board 
confirmed that they had responded to 
the survey and look forward to the 
publication of findings in the new year. 

The Board agreed that as transport 
remained an issue for older people that 
Neil Mathews, Transport Development 
Manager, BFC would be invited to 
attend the Board and brief on issues 
affecting older people as appropriate. 

 

1.3 To ensure opportunities for 
mental and social 
stimulation, the Board will 
invite organisations involved 
in adult learning to assess 
the extent to which older 
people are catered for  

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue 
invitations to: 

Janet Berry, the 
new Head of 
Community 
Learning and Skills 

Board discussion 

Janet Berry – June 
2014 

 The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people  

 Key messages and promotion 
through Board membership 

 Increased take up of courses by 
people aged 50+ 

COMPLETED 

Janet Berry attended the June 2014 
Board meeting.  

Outline of courses and programmes 
given and Board assured of range of 
courses existing and in development for 
older people 

Request for volunteers for ESOL 
provision at Bracknell and Sandhurst 
English Language Cafes made to Board 

Board recommended tying up of 
Community Learning digital inclusion 
courses with Digital Inclusion sub-group 

 

http://consult.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/portal/transport/bus_strategy
http://consult.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/portal/transport/bus_strategy
http://consult.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/portal/transport/bus_strategy


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  5 

Priority 1: Effective prevention in supportive communities which promote good health, wellbeing, involvement and combat isolation in personally 

managed ways 

 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

for Retirement Fair 2014. 

Janet to share information with Board 
on a regular basis for distribution 
through networks. 

Data on courses take up by older people 
should come back to Board to be 
assured of take up by older people. 

1.4 To support the 
improvement of information 
about and better promote 
regular preventative health 
checks (p.8, p11) to older 
people, the Board will invite 
the Bracknell Forest public 
health team to present 
information about 
preventative health checks 

The Chairman of the 
Board will invite  

Lisa McNally from 
the Public Health, 
BFC 

Action between 
meetings 

January 2014 

 The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people 

 Key messages and promotion 
through Board membership 

 Increased take up of regular 
preventative health checks by 
people aged 50+ 

COMPLETED 

There is no national rolling program, 
although patients over 75 are entitled to 
health checks if they request one.    

From April 2014 GP practices will need 
to ensure that each 75+ patient on their 
practice list is assigned a named, 
accountable GP who will be responsible 
for their health needs. This forms part of 
the contract changes for 2014-2015 that 
were agreed between the BMA's 
General Practitioners Committee and 
NHS Employers 

 

 

1.5 To research issues relating 
to ex-servicemen and 
women in the Borough and 
to determine the scope and 
extent of any needs 

Abby Thomas, Head 
of Equalities and 
Community 
Engagement, BFC 

TBC  The Board will identify and 
examine new evidence relating to 
this group 

 The Board will have the 
opportunity to comment on the 
potential impact on this group 

 The Board will consider future 

COMPLETED 

The Equalities Impact Assessment for 
the Strategy has been updated with the 
most recent information. 

STARTED 

A Civilian-Military Partnership has 
replaced the Service Leavers 
Resettlement Group and this is an item 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  6 

Priority 1: Effective prevention in supportive communities which promote good health, wellbeing, involvement and combat isolation in personally 

managed ways 

 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

actions to take forward as part of 
the strategy action plan 

that could come back to the Board for 
information and comment if required. 

1.6 To assess the importance of 
couple, familial and social 
relationships and the lack of 
health relationships and 
their impact on older people 
and social isolation, the 
Board will invite Relate East 
Berkshire to outline issues 
to the Board.  

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue an 
invitation to:  

Relate East Berkshire 

 

December 2014  The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people 

 Key messages and promotion 
through Board membership 

 Impact measures on mental 
health, domestic abuse, social 
isolation, alcohol and substance 
misuse, finance need to be 
identified 

COMPLETED 

A presentation was received from Karen 
Ross 
centremanager@relateberkshire.org 

The Board was able to use the 
presentation on key issues and trends to 
shape the format of the Planning for 
Later Life event (action 4.4): 

 Preparing for and coping with 
retirement 

 New roles at home when both 
partners are at homes 

 New roles with childcare and the 
difficulties that might arise when 
trying to put boundaries in place 

 Concerns over downsizing or 
moving away from an area to be 
closer to relatives 

 Coping with less money 

 Refocusing aims in retirement 

 Becoming your partner’s carer 

 

 

mailto:centremanager@relateberkshire.org


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  7 

Priority 1: Effective prevention in supportive communities which promote good health, wellbeing, involvement and combat isolation in personally 

managed ways 

 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

1.7 To support mental health 
services by 
promoting  preventative, 
treatment and management 
of mental health conditions 
it is recommended that the 
Board is briefed on the work 
of the Talking Therapies / 
IAPT services in relation to 
older people 

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue an 
invitation to:  

Talking Therapies 

Toyin Idowu 

Toyin.Idowu@berksh
ire.nhs.uk 

01344 415925 

07917 264355 

An invite was sent to 
Malcolm Toyer, 
Talking Therapies 
Malcolm.Toyer@berk
shire.nhs.uk Tel 0300 
365 2000 to attend 
the meeting on 
16.09.15 for an 
update on services 
provided by Talking 
Therapies 

 

  The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people 

 Key messages and promotion 
through Board membership 

 Impact measures on mental 
health, domestic abuse, social 
isolation, alcohol and substance 
misuse, finance need to be 
identified 

COMPLETED 

The Board was briefed in September 

2014 (item 9) and evidence of usage 

suggested that priority need came from 
younger groups but that greater 
promotion in GP surgeries would be 
welcome to reach older audiences.  The 
Board was left with promotional 
materials to circulate and forward to 
networks. 

The Board was briefed again in 
September 2015 about how Talking 
Therapies has been trying to reach out 
to Older Adults to increase referrals for 
this client group.  It was agreed that a 
system for sending through promotional 
material for Talking Therapies to the 
Older People’s Partnership and also 
perhaps linking in with Age Concern to 
promote our newer online services and 
our website as a way in to wider 
awareness f the service locally. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

mailto:Toyin.Idowu@berkshire.nhs.uk
mailto:Toyin.Idowu@berkshire.nhs.uk
mailto:Malcolm.Toyer@berkshire.nhs.uk
mailto:Malcolm.Toyer@berkshire.nhs.uk
http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=551&MId=5160&Ver=4


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  8 

 
 
 
 

Priority 2: Community health and care services working together to aid recovery and provide 
ongoing support to reduce the need for acute care 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will report better management of long-term conditions 

 Care plans are known in advance and older people only have to tell their story once 

 Older people will receive services and support early to prevent and avoid the need for acute care 

 

Priority 2: Community health and care services working together to aid recovery and provide ongoing support to 
reduce the need for acute care 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

2.1 To support work to integrate 
care pathway planning 
between BFC, the CCG and 
BHFT which set out past, 
present and future care needs 
and who will be responsible 
for them (p.14), the Board will 
invite the partners to present 
information about these 
proposals to make sure that 
the views of older people are 
sought and captured 

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue an 
invitation to: 

Mira Haynes, Chief 
Officer: Older People 
and Long-term 
Conditions 

TBA  The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people  

 Care plans will be known in 

advance and older people only 

have to tell their story once 

 More older people will report 
greater satisfaction with their 
care 

ON GOING 

A briefing on the intermediate care 
strategy was received by the Board at 
their March meeting.   

The Board also heard from the CCG of a 
new programme called “Delivering a 
New Vision of Care” and Age Concern 
Bracknell Forest was nominated to 
attend the Design Group which would 
examine ways to focus on preventative 
care pathway planning. 

This project will extend beyond the life 
of the existing OP strategy. 

 

http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=551&MId=5793&Ver=4


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  9 

Priority 2: Community health and care services working together to aid recovery and provide ongoing support to 
reduce the need for acute care 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

2.2 To better understand the 
policy behind the integration 
of care and how a multi-skilled 
workforce (p.5) will be 
achieved, the Board will invite 
the Council to present 
information about the 
Government’s policy to 
integrate health and social 
care by 2018 

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue an 
invitation to: 

Mira Haynes, Chief 
Officer: Older People 
and Long-term 
Conditions, ASCHH, 
BFC 

TBA  The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people  

COMPLETED 

Health and social care workforce 
development is being undertaken by the 
ASCHH department. 

There is also a statutory function of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board to assess 
Local Education Training Board annual 
plan which sets out the need for, 
recruitment to and retention of 
appropriately trained health care 
workforce.   

Workforce development in the wider 
health and wellbeing economy has been 
recommended as a priority in the 
refreshed Joint Health and Wellbeing  
Strategy for 2016.  Although this will sit 
outside the life span of this action plan, 
it is likely to come back to this and other 
strategic partnerships at a later date. 

 

2.3 To better understand issues 
relating to hospital discharge 
for older people diagnosed 
with stroke, the Board will 
invite presentations from the 
Integrated Care Partnership 
Board  

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue an  
invitation to: 

The Intermediate 
Care Partnership 
Board 

TBA  The Board will have received 
presentations or policy updates 
on this programme 

 The Board will learn about the 
proposals and have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people and 
determine how services could be 
joined up 

COMPLETED  

A briefing on the intermediate care 
strategy was received by the Board at 
their March meeting.  The final 
intermediate care strategy is available at 
from the council website. 

 

http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=551&MId=5793&Ver=4
http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=102&MId=5337&Ver=4


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  10 

Priority 2: Community health and care services working together to aid recovery and provide ongoing support to 
reduce the need for acute care 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

2.4 To better understand issues 
relating to hospital discharge 
for older people diagnosed 
with dementia, the Board will 
invite presentations from the 
Intermediate Care Partnership 
Board 

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue an  
invitation to: 

Intermediate Care 
Partnership Board 

TBA  The Board will have received 
presentations or policy updates 
on this programme 

 The Board will learn about the 
proposals and have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people and 
determine how services could be 
joined up 

COMPLETED  

A briefing on the intermediate care 
strategy was received by the Board at 
their March meeting.  The final 
intermediate care strategy is available at 
from the council website. 

 

2.5 The Board will provide a 
individual responses to the 
Department of Health 
Improving Care Survey to 
respond to issues relating to 
coordinated care planning 
(http://consult.bracknell-
forest.gov.uk/public/ascteam/
dhics/dhics)  

All members of the 
Board 

27 September 2013  Board members will be able to 
summarise the key issues they 
raised for consideration by the 
wider Board 

 Board members will have 
considered the wider Council 
response to determine impact on 
this work plan 

COMPLETED 

Various members of the Board reported 
that they had provided individual 
responses to the survey. 

The tight timescale set nationally did not 
allow for organisational responses to be 
collated. 

The combined responses will be shared 
amongst the Board. 

 

2.6 To better understand issues 
relating to end of life care, the 
Board will invite the 
Integrated Care Partnership 
Board to present practice and 
proposals in this area 

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue an  
invitation to: 

Dr Anant Sachdev 

TBC 

Plus review 1 year 
later 

 The Board will have received 
presentations or policy updates 
on this programme 

 The Board will learn about the 
proposals and have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people 

Invitation sent to BA CCG by email on 5
th

 
September 2014 – defer to another date 

 

http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=551&MId=5793&Ver=4
http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=102&MId=5337&Ver=4
http://consult.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/public/ascteam/dhics/dhics
http://consult.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/public/ascteam/dhics/dhics
http://consult.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/public/ascteam/dhics/dhics


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  11 

Priority 2: Community health and care services working together to aid recovery and provide ongoing support to 
reduce the need for acute care 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

2.7 To research issues relating to 
older people who mis-use 
drugs and/or alcohol and 
support a preventative 
approach through awareness 
creation and promotional 
campaigning 

Jillian Hunt, Head of 
Drug and Alcohol 
Services 

September 2013 

Update: September 
2014 

 The Board will identify and 
examine new evidence relating to 
this group 

 The Board will have the 
opportunity to comment on the 
potential impact on this group 

 The Board will reach out to older 
people at risk of the issues raised, 
create awareness of the DAAT 
service and distribute 
preventative messages to 
vulnerable people 

COMPLETED 

Jillian Hunt gave a presentation on the 
impact of drugs and alcohol abuse 
amongst older people details of which 
are set out in the minutes of the 
meeting of the Board of September 
2013. 

The Board received the briefing and 
impact with interest and information 
and awareness creation materials to 
distribute through the Board’s networks 
has been requested from the DAAT 
team (6/12/2013).  The Board requested 
a future briefing from Jillian to monitor 
progress in this area. 

The Board was assured that the PH team 
had also run a Drink Awareness 
preventative campaign in November 
2013 (press release at 
http://www.bracknell-
forest.gov.uk/keepyourdrinkinginclearvi
ew) with the publication of local findings 
due in  

The Board is asked to promote the 
website:  

http://www.drinkaware.co.uk/about-
us/events/berkshire-campaign 

Alcohol and drug awareness was also 
covered in a PH funded project to raise 
awareness of health and wellbeing 

 

http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/keepyourdrinkinginclearview
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/keepyourdrinkinginclearview
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/keepyourdrinkinginclearview
http://www.drinkaware.co.uk/about-us/events/berkshire-campaign
http://www.drinkaware.co.uk/about-us/events/berkshire-campaign


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  12 

Priority 2: Community health and care services working together to aid recovery and provide ongoing support to 
reduce the need for acute care 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

issues piloted in November.  Two further 
events will take place in January and 
March and the Board will be provided 
with materials for distribution. 

 

 

Priority 3: A range of different types of housing which allows people to remain at home as long as 
they wish 

Note from the Board 

The Board considers a wide range of different types of housing appropriate to needs will give people choice and will secure safety and independence in the home, however, 

the Board also believes that this priority should also encompass housing adaptation and assistive technology which are invaluable to quality of life and helping people to 

live independently for longer in their existing homes. 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will report that their housing is appropriate to their needs  

 

The actions within this theme to help achieve these outcomes are listed below:  

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  13 

Priority 3: A range of different types of housing which allows people to remain at home as long as they wish 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

3.1 To promote Assistive Technology 
and the Sensory Needs Clinic at 
Bridgewell to support older people 
to achieve independence and 
quality of life, the Board will 
establish a joined up programme of 
communications through a task 
and finish group 

Angela Harris, 
Older People 
and Long-Term 
Conditions 
Team, ASCHH, 
BFC 

  The Board will have visited the 
Sensory Needs Clinic to explore 
the options available to older 
people 

 Key messages and promotional 
activity will be developed and 
distributed to the media 

 Promotional material will be 
developed and distributed 
through Board members and 
their networks 

 Increased take up of Assistive 
Technology solutions and housing 
adaptations 

 Older people will report that their 
housing is appropriate to their 
needs 

STARTED 

A communications plan has been 
developed. At 28/08/2014, the plan was 
being considered by the Learning 
Disabilities section in ASCHH who are 
leading on the project to ensure it fits 
with a wider programme of activities 
relating to assistive technology in the 
Borough.  

A delay is currently being experienced as 
there are some issues to consider 
around the overlapping roles of the BF 
Sensory Needs team and Forest Care 
and other services using the same site.  
This matter is currently being dealt with 
by operational staff in ASCHH. 

 

 

3.2 To support those households who 
need or want to move home, the 
Board will invite the Bracknell 
Forest Council Housing section to 
outline the home share scheme 
and the freespace relocation 
service (p10) with a view to 
promoting the scheme through 
Board member networks 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue an  
invitation to: 

Simon Hendy, 
Chief Officer: 
Housing, 
ASCHH, BFC 

June 2014 

Feedback on pilot 
in Mar 2015 

 

 The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people  

 Greater promotion and 
awareness of the schemes 

 Increased take up of home share 
scheme and freespace relocation 
service by people aged 50+ 

COMPLETED 

The Board was briefed on both schemes 
at June 2014 Board. The Board gave 
views on the Homeshare scheme but 
requested more information on the Free 
Space scheme. Clare Dorning and Janet 
Weekes (Housing) sought additional 
data for a feasibility study but 
information was insufficient to progress 
the project. 

The Council’s housing strategy is to be 
reviewed in 2016 and the schemes may 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  14 

Priority 3: A range of different types of housing which allows people to remain at home as long as they wish 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

be revisted at that time.  

3.3 The Board will invite the BFH and 
the Housing section to give an 
update on the Garth Hill extra care 
housing scheme to explore how 
the benefits might be incorporated 
into future housing developments 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue an  
invitation to: 

Linda Wells, 

Bracknell Forest 

Homes 

March 2014  The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people  

COMPLETED 

For full details please refer to the 
minutes of the meeting of 19/03/2014.  
Views on the scheme were taken from 
the Board and incorporated into the 
service specification. 

 

3.4 To better understand how older 
people are having their advice and 
information needs met in relation 
to welfare reform, the Board will 
invite advice and signposting 
organisations to outline their work 
with a view to promoting the 
scheme through Board member 
networks 

Simon Hendy, 

Chief Officer: 

Housing, 

ASCHH, BFC  

BF Benefits 

Manager? 

September 2014  The Board will learn about diverse 
advice and information services 
and have opportunity to 
comment on how these are 
promoted widely and consistently 
to older people 

 The Board will assess the type of 
need and demand and distribute 
(or create as necessary) 
promotional material for 
distribution through Board 
members and their networks 

 Increased take up of advice and 
information services 

COMPLETED 

There are new legislative provisions 
under the Care Act with regard to an 
information and advice service for the 
local authority area which sets out the 
local offer of care and support. 

An Information and Advice Strategy is 
currently being drafted, however, it is 
likely that the ongoing development and 
implementation of that document will 
fall outside the life of the current action 
plan.  However, it is likely to come back 
to this and other strategic partnerships 
at a later date. 

 

 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  15 

Priority 4: Good quality information and advice and straightforward access to health, care and 
support services 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will be enabled to maximise their income and financial wellbeing (p.12) 

 Older people will be able to plan for a time when they cannot make decisions for themselves (principle to ensure and protect dignity) 

 People who fund their own support have access to information, advice and support according to their needs 

 

The actions within this theme to help achieve these outcomes are listed below:  

Priority 4: Good quality information and advice and straightforward access to health, care and support services 

 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

4.1 To understand the financial 
implications of the Care Bill 
on older people (including 
those who fund their own 
support) for impact on care 
planning, personalisation, 
personal budgets, enabling 
direct payments, the Board 
will invite Bracknell Forest 
adult social care teams to 
outline the policy and local 
response 

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue an  
invitation to: 

Neil Haddock, Head 
of Performance and 
Resources, ASCHH, 
BFC  

  The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people  

  

 Satisfaction with information 
provided to people who fund 
their own care and support  

 

 The Board will set up a task and 
finish group to promote 
information to meet the needs of 
older people 

ON HOLD 

The commencement of the financial 
provisions of the Care Act fall 
outside the life of the current action 
plan.  A number of consultations are 
taking place at national level and 
guidance is still emerging. 

However, this matter is likely to come 

back to this and other strategic 
partnerships at a later date. 

 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  16 

Priority 4: Good quality information and advice and straightforward access to health, care and support services 

 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

4.2 The Board will explore the role 
of information and signposting 
providers (such as CAB and 
Local Healthwatch Bracknell 
Forest) (p.12) 

 

 
 

 

 

4.2.a Citizens Advice Bureau will 
be invited to update the 
Board on internal 
restructuring and impact on 
information and advice 
services for older people 

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue an  
invitation to: 

Rhiannon Stocking-
Williams, Chief 
Executive, CAB 

March 2014  The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people  

COMPLETED 

For full details see minutes of meeting of 
19

th
 March 2013.  In summary, there 

were gaps in need for older people who 
benefitted from CAB advice on debts, 
housing, employment, relationship 
breakdown, bedroom tax and council 
tax. Some specialist services had been 
bought in to provide immigration and 
housing advice. Older people were 
found to benefit most from face-to-face 
contact and CAB was undertaking some 
internal restructuring to increase front-
end capacity in this regard. Good work 
had been undertaken through hospital 
in-reach project (reference: June  2013) 
(see action 4.2b) and an action fro BFC 
was highlighted to improve information 
around Blue Badges. 

 

http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=41023
http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=551&MId=4739&Ver=4


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  17 

Priority 4: Good quality information and advice and straightforward access to health, care and support services 

 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

4.2.b Bracknell Forest Homes and 
Citizens Advice Bureau to 
outline the findings of their 
pilot programme to provide 
financial advice and 
information to people 
impacted by welfare 
changes in health and care 
settings 

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue an  
invitation to: 

Rhiannon Stocking-
Williams, Chief 
Executive, CAB 

Who else is involved 

BFH 

TBC  The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people  

 The Board will consider the 
findings, issues facing older 
people in health and care settings 
and how learning can be 
communicated more widely 

COMPLETED 

Included in the item above. 

  

4.2.c Invite Local Healthwatch 
Bracknell Forest to assure 
the Board that the 
information and signposting 
needs of older people are 
being met in the design and 
delivery of this new service 

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue an  
invitation to: 

Chris Taylor, Project 
Officer, Healthwatch 
Bracknell Forest 

Mar 2014  The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people  

 Key messages and promotion of 
Local Healthwatch service 
through Board networks 

 The Board will consider the 
findings, issues facing older 
people in health and care settings 
and how learning can be 
communicated more widely 

COMPLETED 

For full details see minutes of meeting of 
19th March 2014.  Ongoing monitoring 
information demonstrates that this is a 
service that is increasingly used by older 
people both to comment on and take 
part in continuous improvement of 
health and social care services. 

  

 

4.3 The Board will source local 
equalities data indicating 
issues for migrant 
communities around social 
isolation, awareness and 
access to services and specific 
health conditions 

  5   
N/A 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  18 

Priority 4: Good quality information and advice and straightforward access to health, care and support services 

 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

4.3.a Based on a quantitative 
assessment of need in the 
Equality Screening record, 
the Board will assess 
information provision 
around social isolation, 
awareness and access to 
health and social care 
services to the Nepali 
community  

For the Council 

In relation to the 
Nepali Community: 
Abby Thomas, Head 
of Equalities and 
Community 
Engagement, BFC 

For the health 
service 

Mary Purnell, Head 
of Operations, 
Bracknell and Ascot 
CCG 

Dec 2014?  The Board will source the 
evidence and update the Equality 
Screening record for the Older 
People’s Strategy 

 Consideration of evidence and 
actions to address specific issues 
will be determined taking into 
account cultural and linguistic 
barriers 

 Consideration of Board network 
response to needs of vulnerable 
groups 

 Members of the Polish 
community will report improved 
connectedness to the community, 
better access to social care and 
health services 

STARTED 

For the Nepali Community, because 
this community is aligned so closely 
to the armed services community in 
the borough, a number of projects 
have been undertaken through the 
Armed Forces Community Covenant 
and the MOD Forces Community 
Grant Scheme. 

The Community Engagement Team 
has been contacted to better 
understand the successes of this 
work which can be communicated to 
the Board at a later date. 

 

 

4.3.b Based on a quantitative 
assessment of need in the 
Equality Screening record, 
the Board will assess 
information provision 
around social isolation, 
awareness and access to 
health and social care 
services to the Polish 
community 

For the Council 

Abby Thomas, Head 
of Equalities and 
Community 
Engagement, BFC 

For the health 
service 

Mary Purnell, Head 
of Operations, 
Bracknell and Ascot 

TBC  The Board will source the 
evidence and update the Equality 
Screening record for the Older 
People’s Strategy 

 Consideration of evidence and 
actions to address specific issues 
will be determined taking into 
account cultural and linguistic 
barriers 

 Consideration of Board network 

NOT YET STARTED 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  19 

Priority 4: Good quality information and advice and straightforward access to health, care and support services 

 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

CCG 

 

response to needs of vulnerable 
groups 

 Members of the Polish 
community will report improved 
connectedness to the community, 
better access to social care and 
health services 

4.4 To promote planning in later 
life, the Board will assess 
information relating to such 
things as advance directive, 
lasting power of attorney, 
etc. (p12) and determine a 
way of communicating this 
information to older people 

Kieth Naylor will 
gather information 
resources for 
consideration by the 
Board at a future 
meeting 

A lead will be 
nominated at a 
future meeting 

 

  The Board will take an asset 
based approach and research 
support available in the 
community and set up a Task and 
Finish group involving members 
of the Community and 
community law firms 

 Key messages and promotional 
activity will be developed and 
distributed to the media 

 Promotional material will be 
developed and distributed 
through Board members and 
their networks 

 Older people will report that 
improved satisfaction that their 
information needs have been met 

STARTED 

At 6/12/02013, a number of leaflets 
and information from private finance 
and legal services has been gathered 
by Tracey Hedgecox and Kieth Naylor 
in preparation of this item. 

Planning for an event was discussed 
at the December 2014 Board 
meeting.  

There are currently capacity issues in 
the BFC Joint Commissioning Team 
that prevent this item being taken 
forward by the Council directly, 
however, Age Concern Bracknell 
Forest applied for grant funding to 
deliver an event 2015-2016, the 
specification for which is to be 
agreed by a small working group of 
the Board. 

 

 

http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=551&MId=5161&Ver=4


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  20 

Priority 5: Access to the Internet and the skills to use it 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will have access to electronic information according to their needs and preferences (p11) 

 Older people will have access to support and learning opportunities, relevant to the ways in which they wish and need to access online information  

 

Priority 5: Access to the Internet and the skills to use it 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

To develop, support and promote the use of the Internet that matches needs and demand (p11) the Board will take an asset based approach and set up a Task and Finish 
group involving members of the community and Board members who will: 

5.1.a Engage with the Community 
Learning Service to find out 
more about IT courses and 
to determine how the needs 
of older learners are 
considered and met in the 
development and design of 
courses with a view to 
promoting courses more 
widely 

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue and 
invitation to 

Mr Campbell 
Christie, Principal, 
Bracknell and 
Wokingham 
College, 01344 
766441 

Janet Berry, the 
Head of 
Community 
Learning and Skills 

Janet Berry – June 
2014 (TBC) 

Review in 2015 

 The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people  

 The needs of older people and 
usage of internet technology by 
older people in Bracknell Forest 
will be clearer 

 The Board will have visited the 
Lifelong Learning Service (Adult 
Learning) courses for older 
people 

 Key messages and promotional 
activity will be developed and 
distributed to the media 

 Promotional material will be 
developed and distributed 
through Board members and 

STARTED 

The Economic and Skills Development 
Partnership confirmed that whilst adult 
learning is a strand, learning specifically 
targeted at older people is not a primary 
consideration. 

Janet Berry is a member of the Board 
and uses meetings to canvas ideas on 
the educational and learning support of 
older people in the Borough.  The 
contribution of the OPPB as part of a 
wider whole has led to an overhaul of 
the Open Learning Centre offer, 
alignment with Skills Agency Funding 
and the provision of a wider range of 
courses, specifically relating to digital 
skills and literacy which have been 
particularly successful. 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  21 

Priority 5: Access to the Internet and the skills to use it 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

their networks 

 Increased number of people 50+ 
attending free IT courses 

 Increased number of people 
reached through outreach / 
digital inclusion 

5.1.b Explore how information 
and signposting 
organisations are enabling 
access to online information 
for people who cannot or do 
not wish to access the 
internet so that practice 
examples can be promoted 

The Chairman of the 
Board will issue and 
invitation to 

Bobby Mulheir, Chief 
Officer: Customer 
Services, BFC to 
outline Digital 
Inclusion Strategy 

Who else needs to 
be involved 

All other 
organisations 
delivering IT 
solutions to older 
people, e.g. BFH, Age 
Concern 

  The Board will have opportunity 
to comment on the potential 
impact on older people  

 Case studies and examples of 
good practice (e.g. Age Concern 
pilots and programmes) can be 
developed for distribution to 
other organisations 

 The Board will develop an 
understanding of the IT that is 
acceptable to and is likely to be 
used by older people 

 Organisations will report 
increased use of diverse 
technologies to search 
information online, in particular 
from the iHub 

 IT use will increase in day centres 

 Trainers and volunteers better 
trained to help older people 
access internet technologies to 

STARTED 

The Board appointed a Digital Inclusion 
Coordinator paid for through grant 
funding to research needs and ambitions 
and deliver a programme to empower 
older people to access and use internet 
technologies and resources.  Reports on 
progress are received at Board 
meetings. 

The life of the project will extend 
beyond the life of the existing strategy. 

 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  22 

Priority 5: Access to the Internet and the skills to use it 

Things that we will do 
(actions) 

Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

provide information 

 Information will be developed 
about “Apps” of benefit to older 
people 

 Increased use of IT by people 50+ 
in communal areas, e.g. libraries, 
sheltered schemes 

 

Priority 6: Better recognition and support for carers, particularly older carers 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older carers will report greater support in their caring role 

 Carers will know how much money they are entitled to for care and support needs 

 Carers will report their needs have been recognised and appropriate support and information has been offered 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  23 

Priority 6: Better recognition and support for carers, particularly older carers 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 
2016) 

Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

6.1 To understand how older carers’ 
needs are being met, the Board 
will seek a progress report on the 
Borough Carers strategy with a 
view to presenting new evidence, 
identifying gaps or supporting the 
delivery of the strategy outcomes 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue an  
invitation to: 

Carers Issue 
Group 

Also involved: 

BFC, Joint 
Commissioning 
Officer, Carer’s 
Strategy 

Sept 2015  The Board will consider the progress 
and how issues facing older carers are 
being addressed 

 Members of the Board will promote 
support more widely through their 
networks 

 Members will consider what resources 
they can bring to bear to ensure 
greater outcomes can be achieved for 
more people 

 Satisfaction of carers in relation to 
their understanding of new provisions 
in Care Bill affecting them 

 Satisfaction of carers about the level of 
inclusion in discussions relating to 
decisions that impact on them 

STARTED 

This item from Alysoun Asante 
was deferred from June to 
allow for the report to be 
approved by Executive.  The 
item is to come back to Board 
from Autumn 2015. 

 

 

Priority 7: Improve community awareness of the needs of older people, and promote volunteering 
and befriending services 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will report they feel valued with opportunity to contribute meaningfully with their community 

 Older people will feel visible, listened to and heard and perceptions of old age and older people will change (pp.5 & 7) 

 Older people will report improved understanding of the issues affecting older people by service providers and the wider community 

 Older people will report feeling valued (principle of strategy) 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  24 

 

Priority 7: Improve community awareness of the needs of older people, and promote volunteering and befriending 
services 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 
2016) 

Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

7.1 To promote volunteering (p.14, EIA) and befriending to improve social connectedness, the Board will:  

 Increase in the number of volunteers aged 50+ above currently reported figure of 65% 

 Increase in the number of hours volunteered by people aged 50+ 

 Older people aged 50% taking part in more diverse volunteering opportunities 

 Increase number of bids or funds drawn down to support volunteering / mentoring schemes 

 As a result of volunteering, more older people reporting: 

 less risk aversion 

 feeling empowered to take part in community events and development and activities in the community  

 improved mental wellbeing 

 improved social wellbeing  

 

7.1.a Review befriending schemes in 
the Borough and specifically, 
ask BFVA and Bracknell Forest 
Homes to report progress on 
findings of their befriending 
programmes in residential care 
settings 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue and 
invitation to: 

Kathryn Mullens, 
Bracknell Forest 
Public Health 
Team 

Steve Eker, 
Bracknell Forest 
Joint 
Commissioning 
Team 

TBC  The Board will consider the findings, 
and how learning can be used to 
promote volunteering and befriending 
opportunities 

STARTED 

Assessment of need was 
assessed in 2014. Involve 
(previously BFVA) have working 
with the public health team to 
develop a monitoring tool for 
impact of social interaction 
programmes but the wider 
needs of the wider population 
are being further explored. 

For the wider population, work 
in this area is being undertaken 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  25 

Priority 7: Improve community awareness of the needs of older people, and promote volunteering and befriending 
services 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 
2016) 

Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

 by the Bracknell Forest Public 
Health and Joint 
Commissioning Teams and a 
Loneliness and Social Isolation 
steering group is now in place 
to take this issue forward.  

7.1.b Ask the Local Economic 
Partnership to present its 
proposals for providing older 
people with opportunities to 
use their life skills, knowledge 
and experience in meaningful 
and productive ways to 
maintain mental, social and 
economic wellbeing of older 
people 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue and 
invitation to: 

David Cook, 
Chairman of the  
Local Economic 
Partnership 

TBC 

Janet Berry to 
distribute 
information on 
internship between 
meetings of the 
Board and result to 
be reported to 
OPPB meeting 
following 
recruitment 

 The views of older people will have 
been considered in the development of 
action plans and programmes to 
deliver the Local Economic Partnership 
Strategy 

 The Board will have played an active 
part in the development of schemes 
such as skills, knowledge and time 
banking 

 Older people will report satisfaction 
with opportunities to maintain or 
improve mental, social and economic 
wellbeing 

ON GOING 

The focus of the work of the 
LEP is primarily younger people 
in response to recent national 
policy changes. 

The Open Learning Centre is 
focussing on community 
learning and has 
comprehensive monitoring 
data including age, and actively 
encouraging new and 
continued learning for older 
people.  Working with the 
Digital Inclusion  Co-ordinator, 
new courses and content are 
being developed around ICT 

 

7.2 The Board will receive regular 
status reports on the work of the 
Access Group in order to 
promote the views of older 
people 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue and 
invitation to: 

Cllr Cliff Thomson, 
Older People’s 

Board decision  The views of older people will be heard 
in the development of programmes 
and projects set up by the Access 
Group  

 Older people will report satisfaction 

STARTED 

Cllr. Thompson to provide 
feedback on the Access Group 
at or between meetings. 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  26 

Priority 7: Improve community awareness of the needs of older people, and promote volunteering and befriending 
services 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 
2016) 

Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

Champion that their views have been heard and 
taken into account when developing 
services for older people 

7.3 The Board will establish a dignity 
code to promote understanding 
of the basic expectations of older 
people when interacting with 
services 

Cllr Cliff Thomson, 
Older People’s 
Champion 

Board decision  A dignity code will be produced and 
promoted  

 A commitment to adoption will be 
sought from the Borough Council with 
a view to promoting the wider 
adoption by other community 
organisations 

 Monitoring against the standard will be 
reported through engagement and 
consultation with the public 

 Older people will report satisfactory 
experiences when interacting with 
organisations and individuals who have 
been suitably trained in the needs and 
communications needs of older people 

COMPLETE 

The minute of the meeting of 4
th

 
December reads:  

Discussing the Code, the Board 
considered that the principles of 
the code were already embedded 
in members’ strategies, policies, 
plans and practices and were a 
core component of members’ 
approach to safeguarding for 
example. The Dignity Code was 
therefore not considered to be a 
new aim as the core values of the 
code were already incorporated 
into Adult Social Care practice with 
members already mindful of and 
practicing its principles. The 
Borough Council was mindful of all 
codes in its work but the Board 
agreed not to officially adopt the 
Dignity Code. 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  27 

Priority 7: Improve community awareness of the needs of older people, and promote volunteering and befriending 
services 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 
2016) 

Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

7.4 Board seeks information as to 
why there are significant 
discrepancies between Census 
population estimates and 
recorded data on the Equality Act 
2010 protected characteristics of 
sexual orientation and religion on 
IAS to ensure social care services 
mitigate the risk of discriminating 
directly or indirectly against these 
populations. populations.  

Mira Haynes, 
Chief Officer: 
Older People and 
Long-term 
Conditions, 
ASCHH, BFC 

2015-2016  The Board will be appraised of the 
assessment process and how questions 
of this nature can be asked and 
recorded sensitively 

 The recording of religion and sexual 
orientation is improved and processes 
will be deemed not to be 
discriminatory 

 The gap between population estimates 
and recorded data will narrow 

STARTED 

Email to ASCHH Performance  
Manager sent 26/06/2015  

 

Priority 8: Real choice and control over services which are fairly priced and affordable and promote 
self-management 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will be able to express their needs and be confident that their views have been taken into account when determining their support options 

  



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  28 

Priority 8: Real choice and control over services which are fairly priced and affordable and promote self-management 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 
2016) 

Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

8.1 The Board will explore creative 
uses of personal budgets 
(including the use of E+ cards) to 
allow people flexibility & freedom 
of choice as to how personal 
budgets are used to improve 
quality of life 

Angela Harris, 
Older People and 
Long-Term 
Conditions Team, 
ASCHH, BFC 

Others to be 
included: 

Jayne Ward e+ 
project manager 

TBC  The Board will develop key messages 
for a promotional campaign 

 More people will become aware of, 
demonstrate interest in, and exhibit 
the innovative use of personal budgets 
to support quality of life choices 

STARTED 

The uptake of Direct Payments 
(and Pre-Paid cards) is 
measured by care group and 
age.  The e+ pre-paid debit card 
is still in developmental stages 
and currently we are waiting on 
new software to make it more 
user friendly.  There are 
currently two people using a e+ 
pre-paid debit card to manage 
their direct payment.  Both of 
these recipients are older 
people who are finding that the 
card is flexible and easier to 
manage as it cuts down on the 
administrative element of 
direct payments.  As the card 
moves through the 
developmental stage and into 
being more widely used by 
people taking up a direct 
payment, the Direct Payments 
Co-ordinator can report back to 
the Older People's the life of 
this project will extend beyond 
the life of the current OP 
strategy. 

 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  29 

Priority 9: Services which are effective, efficient, accessible and of good quality when and where 
needed 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will have relevant and up-to-date information they need to make choices, manage their conditions and plan their plan their support and activities 

(p.15) 

 The views of older people and sought and valued in the commissioning process 

Priority 9: Services which are effective, efficient, accessible and of good quality when and where needed 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 
2016) 

Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

To ensure the views of older people are sought and valued, the Board will: 

9.1.a Invite Local Healthwatch 
Bracknell Forest to outline how 
Enter and View powers might 
be delivered and how records 
of issues reported to Local 
Healthwatch (e.g. comments 
and complaints) might be acted 
upon for the continuous 
improvement of health and 
social care services for older 
people 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue an invitation 
to: 

Healthwatch 
Bracknell Forest 

 

June 2014 

June 2015 

June 2016 

 The Board will have opportunity to 
comment on the potential impact on 
older people  

 The Board will review the LHW annual 
report to take a view on how older 
people’s issues have been identified, 
assessed and to determine what 
support LHW might need to progress 
issues relating to older people 

COMPLETED 

See also minute of 4.2 above.  
LHW undertook a recruitment 
campaign for volunteers as 
Authorised Representatives to 
undertake Enter and View.  
Enter and View training 
guidance will shortly be issued 
by Healthwatch England to 
progress this action.  This item 
will be brought to Board at a 
future date. 

HWBF is developing its Enter 
and View Offer to health and 
social care commissioners and 
contracting teams and take up 
of this will be monitored 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  30 

Priority 9: Services which are effective, efficient, accessible and of good quality when and where needed 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 
2016) 

Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

through contract monitoring 
reports. 

http://www.healthwatchbrack
nellforest.co.uk/ 
sites/default/files/uploads/ 
Enter_and_View_Policy_and_P
rocedure.pdf 

 

 

9.1.b Invite the lay-person for Patient 
and Public Involvement for the 
CCG to outline how the views 
of older people are captured 
and taken into account for the 
improvement of services in GP 
services (p11) 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue an invitation 
to: 

Karen Maskell, 
Lay Person CCG or 
LHW who has 
established the 
patient assembly 

 

  The Board will have opportunity to 
comment on the potential impact on 
older people  

 The Board will review the LHW annual 
report to take a view on how older 
people’s issues have been identified, 
assessed and to determine what 
support LHW might need to progress 
issues relating to older people 

COMPLETED 

HWBF have been working with 
the CCG and have set up a 
patient assembly to provider 
wider support and capacity for 
patient reference groups in 
surgeries which appear to be 
working well and appealing to 
patients, most of whom are 
older residents. 

 

9.2 The Board will review, annual 
reports, quality accounts, local 
accounts, comments and 
complaints data, and any other 
mechanisms for recording or 
reporting the experience of users 
of health and social care services 
aged 50+ to assess issues of 
concern to older people  

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
invite reports 
from: 

LHW annual 
report 

FT PALS 
mechanisms 

Adults Complaints 

“Feedback from 
older people on 
interactions with 
social care report” 

June 2014 

June 2015 

 The Board will identify mechanisms in 
the local community that are relevant 
to achieving the action 

 The Board will analyse comments, 
complaints and concerns  

 The Board will provide comment on 
the potential impact on older people 
and suggest corrective action 

COMPLETED 

LHW annual reports are 
circulated to the Board 
annually. 

The Council’s Local Account is 
also circulated annually for 
comment.  The local account 
contains information the 
complaints the department has 

 

http://www.healthwatchbracknellforest.co.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/Enter_and_View_Policy_and_Procedure.pdf
http://www.healthwatchbracknellforest.co.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/Enter_and_View_Policy_and_Procedure.pdf
http://www.healthwatchbracknellforest.co.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/Enter_and_View_Policy_and_Procedure.pdf
http://www.healthwatchbracknellforest.co.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/Enter_and_View_Policy_and_Procedure.pdf
http://www.healthwatchbracknellforest.co.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/Enter_and_View_Policy_and_Procedure.pdf


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: March 2016 update  31 

Priority 9: Services which are effective, efficient, accessible and of good quality when and where needed 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will 
be completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 
2016) 

Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

Manager 

ASCHH 
Performance 
Team 

Angela Harris, 
BFC, ASCHH in 
relation to 
feedback on  
assessments 

Local account 

 

 Older people will report future 
satisfaction with services they have 
received 

received and how these have 
been dealt with. 

 

 

 





Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  1 

 
 
 

Explanation of the Colour coded status boxes 
 
 
The Action Plan contains colour coded status indicators, which show progress against each action as one of: Red, Amber or Green. 
These are shown like this: 
 

   
 
  

  A Red box means that little or no work has started against the project; or the project has slipped behind or that no progress 
has yet been made. 
 

  An Amber box shows that some work has started against the project or that there is still more work to do. 
 

  A Green box shows that the work or project is on track and is proceeding as expected. 
  



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  2 

The priorities and actions below are those developed from the Older People’s Strategy 2013 – 16 that were listed as not completed in September 2015. 

Priority 1: Effective prevention in supportive communities which promote good health, wellbeing, involvement and 
combat isolation in personally managed ways 
 

Expected Outcomes from this area of work: 

 Older people will report greater connection to their community and be able to access services 

 Trusted community resources will support older people to live and remain independent and safe in the home  

 Older people will be able to report they can live the life they want and have healthier and fulfilled lives 

Priority 1: Transport 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

Transport is still an 
ongoing issue and the 
Council’s Transport 
Manager will be invited to 
a future meeting of the 
Board to outline how the 
needs of older people are 
being considered. 

 

    
 

 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  3 

Priority 2: Community health and care services working together to aid recovery and provide ongoing support to 
reduce the need for acute care 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will report better management of long-term conditions 

 Care plans are known in advance and older people only have to tell their story once 

 Older people will receive services and support early to prevent and avoid the need for acute care 

Priority 2: Community health and care services working together to aid recovery and provide ongoing support to reduce the need for acute care 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

2.1 To support work to integrate 
care pathway planning 
between BFC, the CCG and 
BHFT which set out past, 
present and future care 
needs and who will be 
responsible for them (p.14), 
the Board will invite the 
partners to present 
information about these 
proposals to make sure that 
the views of older people 
are sought and captured 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue an invitation 
to: 

Mira Haynes, 
Chief Officer: 
Older People and 
Long-term 
Conditions 

TBA  The Board will have 
opportunity to comment on the 
potential impact on older 
people  

 Care plans will be known in 

advance and older people only 

have to tell their story once 

 More older people will report 
greater satisfaction with their 
care 

ON GOING 

A briefing on the intermediate 
care strategy was received by the 
Board at their March meeting.   

The Board also heard from the 
CCG of a new programme called 
“Delivering a New Vision of Care” 
and Age Concern Bracknell 
Forest was nominated to attend 
the Design Group which would 
examine ways to focus on 
preventative care pathway 
planning. 

This project will extend beyond 
the life of the existing OP 
strategy. 

 

http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=551&MId=5793&Ver=4


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  4 

Priority 2: Community health and care services working together to aid recovery and provide ongoing support to reduce the need for acute care 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

2.2 To better understand issues 
relating to end of life care, 
the Board will invite the 
Integrated Care Partnership 
Board to present practice 
and proposals in this area 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue an  
invitation to: 

Dr Anant 
Sachdev 

TBC 

Plus review 1 
year later 

 The Board will have received 
presentations or policy updates 
on this programme 

 The Board will learn about the 
proposals and have 
opportunity to comment on the 
potential impact on older 
people 

Invitation sent to BA CCG by 
email on 5th September 2014 – 
defer to another date 

 

 

  



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  5 

Priority 3: A range of different types of housing which allows people to remain at home as long as they wish 

Note from the Board 

The Board considers a wide range of different types of housing appropriate to needs will give people choice and will secure safety and independence in the 

home, however, the Board also believes that this priority should also encompass housing adaptation and assistive technology which are invaluable to quality 

of life and helping people to live independently for longer in their existing homes. 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will report that their housing is appropriate to their needs  

Priority 3: A range of different types of housing which allows people to remain at home as long as they wish 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

3.1 To promote Assistive 
Technology and the Sensory 
Needs Clinic at Bridgewell to 
support older people to achieve 
independence and quality of life, 
the Board will establish a joined 
up programme of 
communications through a task 
and finish group 

Angela 
Harris, Older 
People and 
Long-Term 
Conditions 
Team, 
ASCHH, BFC 

  The Board will have visited the 
Sensory Needs Clinic to 
explore the options available to 
older people 

 Key messages and 
promotional activity will be 
developed and distributed to 
the media 

 Promotional material will be 
developed and distributed 
through Board members and 
their networks 

 Increased take up of Assistive 
Technology solutions and 
housing adaptations 

 Older people will report that 
their housing is appropriate to 
their needs 

STARTED 

A communications plan has been 
developed. At 28/08/2014, the 
plan was being considered by the 
Learning Disabilities section in 
ASCHH who are leading on the 
project to ensure it fits with a 
wider programme of activities 
relating to assistive technology in 
the Borough.  

A delay is currently being 
experienced as there are some 
issues to consider around the 
overlapping roles of the BF 
Sensory Needs team and Forest 
Care and other services using the 
same site.  This matter is 
currently being dealt with by 
operational staff in ASCHH. 

 

 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  6 

Priority 4: Good quality information and advice and straightforward access to health, care and support services 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will be enabled to maximise their income and financial wellbeing (p.12) 

 Older people will be able to plan for a time when they cannot make decisions for themselves (principle to ensure and protect dignity) 

 People who fund their own support have access to information, advice and support according to their needs 

 

Priority 4: Good quality information and advice and straightforward access to health, care and support services 

 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

4.1 To understand the 
financial implications of 
the Care Bill on older 
people (including those 
who fund their own 
support) for impact on 
care planning, 
personalisation, personal 
budgets, enabling direct 
payments, the Board will 
invite Bracknell Forest 
adult social care teams to 
outline the policy and 
local response 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue an  
invitation to: 

Neil Haddock, 
Head of 
Performance and 
Resources, 
ASCHH, BFC  

  The Board will have 
opportunity to comment on the 
potential impact on older 
people  

  

 Satisfaction with information 
provided to people who fund 
their own care and support  

 

 The Board will set up a task 
and finish group to promote 
information to meet the needs 
of older people 

ON HOLD 

The commencement of the 
financial provisions of the Care 
Act fall outside the life of the 
current action plan.  A number of 
consultations are taking place at 
national level and guidance is still 
emerging. 

However, this matter is likely to 
come back to this and other 
strategic partnerships at a later 
date. 

 

 

4.2 The Board will explore the 
role of information and 
signposting providers (such 
as CAB and Local 
Healthwatch Bracknell 
Forest) (p.12) 

 
 

 
 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  7 

Priority 4: Good quality information and advice and straightforward access to health, care and support services 

 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

4.3 The Board will source local 
equalities data indicating 
issues for migrant 
communities around social 
isolation, awareness and 
access to services and 
specific health conditions 

  5   
N/A 

4.3.a Based on a quantitative 
assessment of need in the 
Equality Screening 
record, the Board will 
assess information 
provision around social 
isolation, awareness and 
access to health and 
social care services to the 
Nepali community  

For the Council 

In relation to the 
Nepali 
Community: Abby 
Thomas, Head of 
Equalities and 
Community 
Engagement, 
BFC 

For the health 
service 

Mary Purnell, 
Head of 
Operations, 
Bracknell and 
Ascot CCG 

Dec 2014?  The Board will source the 
evidence and update the 
Equality Screening record for 
the Older People’s Strategy 

 Consideration of evidence and 
actions to address specific 
issues will be determined 
taking into account cultural and 
linguistic barriers 

 Consideration of Board 
network response to needs of 
vulnerable groups 

 Members of the Polish 
community will report improved 
connectedness to the 
community, better access to 
social care and health services 

STARTED 

For the Nepali Community, 
because this community is 
aligned so closely to the armed 
services community in the 
borough, a number of projects 
have been undertaken through 
the Armed Forces Community 
Covenant and the MOD Forces 
Community Grant Scheme. 

The Community Engagement 
Team has been contacted to 
better understand the successes 
of this work which can be 
communicated to the Board at a 
later date. 

 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  8 

Priority 4: Good quality information and advice and straightforward access to health, care and support services 

 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

4.3.b Based on a quantitative 
assessment of need in the 
Equality Screening 
record, the Board will 
assess information 
provision around social 
isolation, awareness and 
access to health and 
social care services to the 
Polish community 

For the Council 

Abby Thomas, 
Head of 
Equalities and 
Community 
Engagement, 
BFC 

For the health 
service 

Mary Purnell, 
Head of 
Operations, 
Bracknell and 
Ascot CCG 

 

TBC  The Board will source the 
evidence and update the 
Equality Screening record for 
the Older People’s Strategy 

 Consideration of evidence and 
actions to address specific 
issues will be determined 
taking into account cultural and 
linguistic barriers 

 Consideration of Board 
network response to needs of 
vulnerable groups 

 Members of the Polish 
community will report improved 
connectedness to the 
community, better access to 
social care and health services 

NOT YET STARTED 

 

4.4 To promote planning in 
later life, the Board will 
assess information 
relating to such things as 
advance directive, lasting 
power of attorney, etc. 
(p12) and determine a 
way of communicating 
this information to older 
people 

Kieth Naylor will 
gather 
information 
resources for 
consideration by 
the Board at a 
future meeting 

A lead will be 
nominated at a 
future meeting 

 

  The Board will take an asset 
based approach and research 
support available in the 
community and set up a Task 
and Finish group involving 
members of the Community 
and community law firms 

 Key messages and 
promotional activity will be 
developed and distributed to 
the media 

 Promotional material will be 

STARTED 

At 6/12/02013, a number of 
leaflets and information from 
private finance and legal services 
has been gathered by Tracey 
Hedgecox and Kieth Naylor in 
preparation of this item. 

Planning for an event was 
discussed at the December 2014 
Board meeting.  

There are currently capacity 
issues in the BFC Joint 

 

http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=551&MId=5161&Ver=4


Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  9 

Priority 4: Good quality information and advice and straightforward access to health, care and support services 

 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

developed and distributed 
through Board members and 
their networks 

 Older people will report that 
improved satisfaction that their 
information needs have been 
met 

Commissioning Team that 
prevent this item being taken 
forward by the Council directly, 
however, Age Concern Bracknell 
Forest applied for grant funding to 
deliver an event 2015-2016, the 
specification for which is to be 
agreed by a small working group 
of the Board. 

 

  



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  10 

Priority 5: Access to the Internet and the skills to use it 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will have access to electronic information according to their needs and preferences (p11) 

 Older people will have access to support and learning opportunities, relevant to the ways in which they wish and need to access online information  

 

Priority 5: Access to the Internet and the skills to use it 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

To develop, support and promote the use of the Internet that matches needs and demand (p11) the Board will take an asset based approach and set up a Task 
and Finish group involving members of the community and Board members who will: 

5.1.a Engage with the 
Community Learning 
Service to find out more 
about IT courses and to 
determine how the needs 
of older learners are 
considered and met in the 
development and design 
of courses with a view to 
promoting courses more 
widely 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue and 
invitation to 

Mr Campbell 
Christie, 
Principal, 
Bracknell and 
Wokingham 
College, 01344 
766441 

Janet Berry, the 
Head of 
Community 
Learning and 
Skills 

Janet Berry – 
June 2014 
(TBC) 

Review in 2015 

 The Board will have 
opportunity to comment on the 
potential impact on older 
people  

 The needs of older people and 
usage of internet technology by 
older people in Bracknell 
Forest will be clearer 

 The Board will have visited the 
Lifelong Learning Service 
(Adult Learning) courses for 
older people 

 Key messages and 
promotional activity will be 
developed and distributed to 
the media 

 Promotional material will be 
developed and distributed 

STARTED 

The Economic and Skills 
Development Partnership 
confirmed that whilst adult 
learning is a strand, learning 
specifically targeted at older 
people is not a primary 
consideration. 

Janet Berry is a member of the 
Board and uses meetings to 
canvas ideas on the educational 
and learning support of older 
people in the Borough.  The 
contribution of the OPPB as part 
of a wider whole has led to an 
overhaul of the Open Learning 
Centre offer, alignment with Skills 
Agency Funding and the 
provision of a wider range of 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  11 

Priority 5: Access to the Internet and the skills to use it 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

through Board members and 
their networks 

 Increased number of people 
50+ attending free IT courses 

 Increased number of people 
reached through outreach / 
digital inclusion 

courses, specifically relating to 
digital skills and literacy which 
have been particularly successful. 

5.1.b Explore how information 
and signposting 
organisations are 
enabling access to online 
information for people 
who cannot or do not wish 
to access the internet so 
that practice examples 
can be promoted 

The Chairman of 
the Board will 
issue and 
invitation to 

Bobby Mulheir, 
Chief Officer: 
Customer 
Services, BFC to 
outline Digital 
Inclusion Strategy 

Who else needs 
to be involved 

All other 
organisations 
delivering IT 
solutions to older 
people, e.g. BFH, 
Age Concern 

  The Board will have 
opportunity to comment on the 
potential impact on older 
people  

 Case studies and examples of 
good practice (e.g. Age 
Concern pilots and 
programmes) can be 
developed for distribution to 
other organisations 

 The Board will develop an 
understanding of the IT that is 
acceptable to and is likely to be 
used by older people 

 Organisations will report 
increased use of diverse 
technologies to search 
information online, in particular 
from the iHub 

 IT use will increase in day 
centres 

 Trainers and volunteers better 
trained to help older people 

STARTED 

The Board appointed a Digital 
Inclusion Coordinator paid for 
through grant funding to research 
needs and ambitions and deliver 
a programme to empower older 
people to access and use internet 
technologies and resources.  
Reports on progress are received 
at Board meetings. 

The life of the project will extend 
beyond the life of the existing 
strategy. 

 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  12 

Priority 5: Access to the Internet and the skills to use it 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

access internet technologies to 
provide information 

 Information will be developed 
about “Apps” of benefit to older 
people 

 Increased use of IT by people 
50+ in communal areas, e.g. 
libraries, sheltered schemes 

 

  



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  13 

Priority 6: Better recognition and support for carers, particularly older carers 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older carers will report greater support in their caring role 

 Carers will know how much money they are entitled to for care and support needs 

 Carers will report their needs have been recognised and appropriate support and information has been offered 

 

Priority 6: Better recognition and support for carers, particularly older carers 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

6.1 To understand how older 
carers’ needs are being met, 
the Board will seek a progress 
report on the Borough Carers 
strategy with a view to 
presenting new evidence, 
identifying gaps or supporting 
the delivery of the strategy 
outcomes 

The Chairman 
of the Board 
will issue an  
invitation to: 

Carers Issue 
Group 

Also involved: 

BFC, Joint 
Commissionin
g Officer, 
Carer’s 
Strategy 

Sept 2015  The Board will consider the 
progress and how issues facing 
older carers are being addressed 

 Members of the Board will promote 
support more widely through their 
networks 

 Members will consider what 
resources they can bring to bear to 
ensure greater outcomes can be 
achieved for more people 

 Satisfaction of carers in relation to 
their understanding of new 
provisions in Care Bill affecting 
them 

 Satisfaction of carers about the 
level of inclusion in discussions 
relating to decisions that impact on 
them 

STARTED 

This item from Alysoun 
Asante was deferred from 
June to allow for the report to 
be approved by Executive.  
The item is to come back to 
Board from Autumn 2015. 

 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  14 

Priority 7: Improve community awareness of the needs of older people, and promote volunteering and befriending 
services 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will report they feel valued with opportunity to contribute meaningfully with their community 

 Older people will feel visible, listened to and heard and perceptions of old age and older people will change (pp.5 & 7) 

 Older people will report improved understanding of the issues affecting older people by service providers and the wider community 

 Older people will report feeling valued (principle of strategy) 

 

Priority 7: Improve community awareness of the needs of older people, and promote volunteering and befriending services 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

7.1 To promote volunteering (p.14, EIA) and befriending to improve social connectedness, the Board will:  

 Increase in the number of volunteers aged 50+ above currently reported figure of 65% 

 Increase in the number of hours volunteered by people aged 50+ 

 Older people aged 50% taking part in more diverse volunteering opportunities 

 Increase number of bids or funds drawn down to support volunteering / mentoring schemes 

 As a result of volunteering, more older people reporting: 

 less risk aversion 

 feeling empowered to take part in community events and development and activities in the community  

 improved mental wellbeing 

 improved social wellbeing  

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  15 

Priority 7: Improve community awareness of the needs of older people, and promote volunteering and befriending services 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

7.1.a Review befriending schemes 
in the Borough and 
specifically, ask BFVA and 
Bracknell Forest Homes to 
report progress on findings 
of their befriending 
programmes in residential 
care settings 

The Chairman 
of the Board 
will issue and 
invitation to: 

Kathryn 
Mullens, 
Bracknell 
Forest Public 
Health Team 

Steve Eker, 
Bracknell 
Forest Joint 
Commissionin
g Team 

 

TBC  The Board will consider the 
findings, and how learning can be 
used to promote volunteering and 
befriending opportunities 

STARTED 

Assessment of need was 
assessed in 2014. Involve 
(previously BFVA) have 
working with the public 
health team to develop a 
monitoring tool for impact of 
social interaction 
programmes but the wider 
needs of the wider 
population are being further 
explored. 

For the wider population, 
work in this area is being 
undertaken by the Bracknell 
Forest Public Health and 
Joint Commissioning Teams 
and a Loneliness and Social 
Isolation steering group is 
now in place to take this 
issue forward.  

 

7.1.b Ask the Local Economic 
Partnership to present its 
proposals for providing older 
people with opportunities to 
use their life skills, 
knowledge and experience in 
meaningful and productive 
ways to maintain mental, 
social and economic 
wellbeing of older people 

The Chairman 
of the Board 
will issue and 
invitation to: 

David Cook, 
Chairman of 
the  Local 
Economic 
Partnership 

TBC 

Janet Berry to 
distribute 
information on 
internship 
between 
meetings of the 
Board and result 
to be reported to 
OPPB meeting 

 The views of older people will have 
been considered in the 
development of action plans and 
programmes to deliver the Local 
Economic Partnership Strategy 

 The Board will have played an 
active part in the development of 
schemes such as skills, knowledge 
and time banking 

ON GOING 

The focus of the work of the 
LEP is primarily younger 
people in response to recent 
national policy changes. 

The Open Learning Centre is 
focussing on community 
learning and has 
comprehensive monitoring 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  16 

Priority 7: Improve community awareness of the needs of older people, and promote volunteering and befriending services 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

following 
recruitment 

 Older people will report satisfaction 
with opportunities to maintain or 
improve mental, social and 
economic wellbeing 

data including age, and 
actively encouraging new 
and continued learning for 
older people.  Working with 
the Digital Inclusion  Co-
ordinator, new courses and 
content are being developed 
around ICT 

7.2 The Board will receive regular 
status reports on the work of 
the Access Group in order to 
promote the views of older 
people 

The Chairman 
of the Board 
will issue and 
invitation to: 

Cllr Cliff 
Thomson, 
Older People’s 
Champion 

Board decision  The views of older people will be 
heard in the development of 
programmes and projects set up by 
the Access Group  

 Older people will report satisfaction 
that their views have been heard 
and taken into account when 
developing services for older people 

STARTED 

Cllr. Thompson to provide 
feedback on the Access 
Group at or between 
meetings. 

 

7.3 Board seeks information as to 
why there are significant 
discrepancies between 
Census population estimates 
and recorded data on the 
Equality Act 2010 protected 
characteristics of sexual 
orientation and religion on IAS 
to ensure social care services 
mitigate the risk of 
discriminating directly or 
indirectly against these 
populations. populations.  

Mira Haynes, 
Chief Officer: 
Older People 
and Long-term 
Conditions, 
ASCHH, BFC 

2015-2016  The Board will be appraised of the 
assessment process and how 
questions of this nature can be 
asked and recorded sensitively 

 The recording of religion and sexual 
orientation is improved and 
processes will be deemed not to be 
discriminatory 

 The gap between population 
estimates and recorded data will 
narrow 

STARTED 

Email to ASCHH 
Performance  Manager sent 
26/06/2015 

 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  17 

Priority 8: Real choice and control over services which are fairly priced and affordable and promote self-
management 

Expected outcomes from work in this area 

 Older people will be able to express their needs and be confident that their views have been taken into account when determining their support options 

Priority 8: Real choice and control over services which are fairly priced and affordable and promote self-management 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

8.1 The Board will explore creative 
uses of personal budgets 
(including the use of E+ cards) 
to allow people flexibility & 
freedom of choice as to how 
personal budgets are used to 
improve quality of life 

Angela Harris, 
Older People 
and Long-
Term 
Conditions 
Team, 
ASCHH, BFC 

Others to be 
included: 

Jayne Ward e+ 
project 
manager 

TBC  The Board will develop key 
messages for a promotional 
campaign 

 More people will become aware of, 
demonstrate interest in, and exhibit 
the innovative use of personal 
budgets to support quality of life 
choices 

STARTED 

The uptake of Direct 
Payments (and Pre-Paid 
cards) is measured by care 
group and age.  The e+ pre-
paid debit card is still in 
developmental stages and 
currently we are waiting on 
new software to make it 
more user friendly.  There 
are currently two people 
using a e+ pre-paid debit 
card to manage their direct 
payment.  Both of these 
recipients are older people 
who are finding that the card 
is flexible and easier to 
manage as it cuts down on 
the administrative element of 
direct payments.  As the card 
moves through the 
developmental stage and 
into being more widely used 
by people taking up a direct 
payment, the Direct 

 



Older People’s Strategy Action Plan: May 2016 update  18 

Priority 8: Real choice and control over services which are fairly priced and affordable and promote self-management 

Things that we will do (actions) Lead When it will be 
completed 
(timescale) 

How we will measure success Progress (as at April 2016) Status 
(Red 
Amber 
Green) 

Payments Co-ordinator can 
report back to the Older 
People's the life of this 
project will extend beyond 
the life of the current OP 
strategy. 

 

Priority 9: Services which are effective, efficient, accessible and of good quality when and where needed – ALL 
ACTIONS LISTED AS COMPLETED 



Q.

A.

What is the Accessible Information Standard?

The Accessible Information Standard is a new
mandatory standard that all NHS and publicly
funded adult social care services must follow.

Who is it for? The essentials The aim

5
There are

important steps

People with a
disability, impairment
or a sensory loss

Identify

Record

Flag

Share

Act

1
2

3
4

5

People will have
information they

can understand and
the communication
support they need.

< <<

Ask if people have any information or
communication needs, and find out how
to meet those needs

Record those needs in a set way that is
highly visible, using specific definitions

Use alerts or flags to make it clear on the
person's file what their needs are, and
prompt action to meet those needs

Share information about the person's
needs with other NHS and adult social care
providers

Make sure people get their information
in an accessible way and have the
communication support they need

Project funded by

NHS England

Produced by Bracknell

Forest Council





Preparing for the standard

Policy and process
changes

Communication

Practical and cultural
changes

Consider the impact

Review, assess and plan £

Staff time

Possible
costs

Providing
evidence:
assuring

commissioners

Contracts, tariffs,
frameworks, and
monitoring

IT system changes and
updates

Establish a stepped

approach with clear

procedures

Processes and

procedures to:

1. Identify

2. Record

3. Flag

4. Share

5. Meet needs
Staff knowledge, training

and awareness

With your staff

New or updated policies:

Accessible communications policy 

Accessible complaints policy

With people who
use your services
and their carers

Review current
systems,
processes,
policies and
arrangements

Review the
specification
and guidance

Assess staff skills
and abilities

Develop and
begin an

implementation
plan

Plan and take
actions for risks:
governance, IT,

safety...

Asking about and
recording needs:

in person by telephone

on letters forms and
documents

Produced by Bracknell

Forest Council

Project funded

by NHS England





1
Produced by 

Bracknell Forest 
Council

Project funded
by NHS England

This guide is intended as a supplementary source of support, in addition to official 
materials from NHS England, to help organisations implement the Accessible 
Information Standard. It draws on and refers to the official documents and also 
draws more widely on materials and good practice from other organisations, and 
links to these other sources of support. It should be used in conjunction with the 
official documentation from NHS England. 
 

This guide is best accessed in a recent version of Acrobat Reader on a computer 
to ensure the interactive features, such as the navigation and links, work correctly. 
However, it can also be used in other software but some interactive features may 
be limited or unavailable in non-standard or less up-to-date software. To navigate 
through the guide, use the “back” and “next buttons at the bottom of each page, 
or the “contents” button to return to this contents page. Throughout the guide, you 
can navigate between related sections by using the different coloured buttons. 
The document also contains website-style links that refer to useful documents, 
websites and resources. Checklists can be completed by clicking to tick each box. 
Progress can be saved by saving the file, so that it can be returned to later and 
resumed from the same point with any previous progress towards completing the 
checklists already recorded. 

Page 2  About the Accessible Information Standard

Page 3  A three stage approach

Page 4  Stage one: Assess and plan

   - Simple checklist

   - Detailed checklist

   - Hints, tips and resources

Page 10 Stage two: Prepare, create and update

   - Simple checklist

   - Detailed checklist

   - Hints, tips and resources 

Page 17 Stage three: Take action

   - Simple checklist

   - Detailed checklist

   - Hints, tips and resources

Introduction Contents

An implementation guide

Using this guide



2
Produced by 

Bracknell Forest 
Council

Project funded
by NHS England

The Accessible Information Standard is a new mandatory standard 
that all NHS and publicly funded adult social care services must follow. 
This includes:

• All providers of NHS care or treatment

• All providers of publicly-funded adult social care

• Adult social care or services bodies (in their role as service 
providers)

• Independent contractors providing NHS services including primary 
medical services (GP practices), dental services, optometric 
services and pharmacy services

• NHS Foundation Trusts and NHS Trusts

• Providers of NHS and / or adult social care from the voluntary and 
community or private sectors

• Providers of public health services, including advice and 
information

It covers people who have information or communication support 
needs due to a disability, impairment or sensory loss. This includes 
patients, people who use services, their carers, and parents.

What is it? Who is it for?

About the standard

The aim

The standard aims to make sure people receive information in formats 
they can understand and receive the communication support they 
need. It specifically aims to improve the quality and safety of care  
received by people with information and communication needs, and 
their ability to be involved in their own decisions about their health, 
care and wellbeing.



3
Produced by 

Bracknell Forest 
Council

Project funded
by NHS England

To make the activities involved in implementing the standard easier to understand, this guide groups the actions and tasks into three main 
stages. For each stage, the guide includes a simple checklist that gives an overview of the work needed in that stage, then a detailed 
checklist and hints and tips. The detailed checklists also have links to other helpful resources so you can quickly find key documents,
examples and sources of support.

A three stage approach

Stage one: assess and plan

Stage two: prepare, create and update

Stage three: take action

Organisations need to assess their current position compared with 
the requirements and plan how they will implement the standard.

Organisations need to prepare clear local policy, create new
processes and procedures, and update IT systems and
documentation.

Organisations need to take action to identify, record, flag, share 
and meet people’s information and communication needs.



4

Stage one: assess and plan

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A simple checklist

This is a significantly simplified checklist to give an overview of 
the activities needed to plan your organisation’s implementation 
of the Accessible Information Standard.

 Activity or action Completed?

Begin preparing and assess organisation’s current position compared 
with the requirements

Assess staff ability and readiness, and plan any training/awareness activities

Plan how the organisation will implement the standard



5

Stage one: assess and plan

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist

This detailed checklist is based around the requirements, conformance criteria and guidance in the official documents, but with some 
simplified language and arranged around the theme “assess and plan”. Therefore only activities that have specific conformance 
criteria have an official deadline listed. Activities or actions without a conformance deadline are drawn from the guidance and supporting 
information, and are tasks that will help achieve one or more of the conformance criteria in that section. When using the checklist 
approach in this guide, it is important to also refer to the requirements and conformance criteria for the standard from NHS England.

Begin preparing and assess organisation’s current position compared 
with the requirements 1/3

Assess staff ability and readiness, and plan any training/awareness activities 2/3

Plan how the organisation will implement the standard 3/3

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-spec-fin.pdf#page=24


6

Stage one: assess and plan

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 1 of 3

Begin preparing and assess organisation’s current position compared with the requirements

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Begin preparing for the standard, including by assessing systems and processes 1 Sept 2015

Review the official documents, including implementation guidance and specification n/a

Assess policies and procedures n/a

Assess the organisation’s current arrangements for meeting people’s information/
communication needs n/a

Although excluded from the scope of the standard, for good practice purposes:
assess how accessible the organisation’s website(s) and online information is 
compared with recognised standards

n/a

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patients/accessibleinfo-2/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=67


7

Stage one: assess and plan

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 2 of 3

Assess staff ability and readiness, and plan any training/awareness activities

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Review the ability of staff to implement the standard and, if needed, plan and carry 
out training/awareness activities 31 July 2016

Assess ability of staff to effectively and sensitively identify and record needs, and 
support people with these needs n/a

Provide training / briefing to staff to explain what the standard is, processes to be 
followed and support that staff can provide directly n/a

Provide or arrange any other training needed, and support staff to access training and 
resources from NHS England: record this in training or competency records 31 July 2016

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patients/accessibleinfo-2/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patients/accessibleinfo-2/


8

Stage one: assess and plan

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 3 of 3

Plan how the organisation will implement the standard

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Develop and begin an implementation plan: refer to resources and guidance from 
NHS England and the local changes needed to implement the standard 1 Sept 2015

Review how the organisation manages information and data (information
governance) and plan and take mitigating actions for any risks 31 July 2016

Consider other safety risks, including IT and governance, plus plan and take
mitigating actions 31 July 2016

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patients/accessibleinfo-2/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patients/accessibleinfo-2/


9

Stage one: assess and plan

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

• Identifying and/or bringing together the right people from the right areas of the organisation is a crucial first step

• How do current policies and procedures fit with the standard? Can relevant policies and procedures be easily adapted or do some need more 
comprehensive revision?

• Some processes may be heavily influenced by IT systems or very closely linked with them: it’s worth considering these things 
together

• In larger organisations, how do planned changes fit with any corporate approach to meeting information and communication needs?

• Can awareness raising and training be slotted into existing activity? This will likely be easier and more meaningful, given the right context.

• There are a range of resources and guidance that can help, including for briefing staff

Supporting resources
• As well as the official documents, there are a range of other supporting resources being produced by other organisations in partnership with 

NHS England 

Briefing staff and supporting understanding
• An infographic about the standard

• An infographic about tasks and impact

• Presentation for service providers

Hints, tips and resources 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patients/accessibleinfo-2/
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ais-infographic-what-is-the-ais.pdf
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ais-infographic-preparing-for-the-standard.pdf
http://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/ais-introductory-presentation-generic.ppt


10

Stage two: prepare, create and update

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A simple checklist

 Activity or action Completed?

Prepare clear local policy in line with the standard

Create clear processes and procedures for following the standard

Update IT systems, processes and documentation

This is a significantly simplified checklist to give an overview of 
the activities needed to prepare for the Accessible Information 
Standard.



11

Stage two: prepare, create and update

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist

This detailed checklist is based around the requirements, conformance criteria and guidance in the official documents, but with some 
simplified language and arranged around the theme “prepare, create and update”. Therefore, only activities that have specific 
conformance criteria have an official deadline listed. Activities or actions without a conformance deadline are drawn from the guidance 
and supporting information, and are tasks that will help achieve one or more of the conformance criteria in that section. When using the 
checklist approach in this guide, it is important to also refer to the requirements and conformance criteria for the standard from NHS 
England.

Prepare clear local policy in line with the standard 1/4

Create clear processes and procedures for following the standard - Part 1 2/4

Create clear processes and procedures for following the standard - Part 2 3/4

Update IT systems, processes and documentation 4/4

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-spec-fin.pdf#page=24


12

Stage two: prepare, create and update

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 1 of 4

Prepare clear local policy in line with the standard

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Prepare and publicly publish an accessible communication policy in line with the 
standard (template to be available from NHS England) 31 July 2016

Ensure people have a way to give feedback, raise a concern or make a
complaint in alternative formats and with communication support
(an accessible complaints policy)

31 July 2016

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patients/accessibleinfo-2/


13

Stage two: prepare, create and update

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 2 of 4

Create clear processes and procedures for following the standard - Part 1

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Establish a stepped approach that includes clear procedures for identifying, 
recording, flagging, sharing and meeting needs 31 July 2016

Agree an approach to identifying people with information and communication needs 
relating to a disability, impairment or sensory loss n/a

Define a clear process for recording people’s needs in line with the standard n/a

Establish flags, alerts or prompts so needs are highly visible to staff and 
prompt action n/a

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-spec-fin.pdf#page=40
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=55
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=55
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=17
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=25
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=27


14

Stage two: prepare, create and update

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 3 of 4

Create clear processes and procedures for following the standard - Part 2

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Have a range of ways for people with communication needs to contact the service, 
and an agreed process for using any ‘alternatives’ n/a

Agree processes for sending out correspondence in alternative formats and 
producing or obtaining information in alternative formats n/a

Agree process for arranging or booking professional communication support (e.g. 
interpreters) n/a

Agree process for people with communication needs to have longer appointments if 
they need one n/a

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=30
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=31
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=31
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=33
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=38


15

Stage two: prepare, create and update

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 4 of 4

Update IT systems, processes and documentation

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Update recording systems and processes, if necessary, along with
associated documentation 31 July 2016

Ensure recording of needs will be consistent, in specific fields and using specific 
terminology (either SNOMED CT, Read v2, or CTV codes, or their English readable 
definitions)

31 July 2016

Update systems, if needed, so that details of need are highly visible (requirements for 
IT systems providers) 31 July 2016

Put methods in place for checking and quality assurance 31 July 2016

Put methods in place to alert about, prevent or discourage mutually incompatible data 
fields being completed (e.g. blind and BSL sign language user) 31 July 2016

Ensure data is current, can be amended, and systems prompt for it to be reviewed/
updated 31 July 2016

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-termnlgy-3-07-15.docx
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-termnlgy-3-07-15.docx
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-spec-fin.pdf#page=33
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-spec-fin.pdf#page=33


16

Stage two: prepare, create and update

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

• Are there aspects of the standard that the organisation already conforms with, or would small changes to working practices and processes help 
meet some aspects?

• Make use of the NHS England accessible communication policy template as a starting point and guide for local policy

• The Implementation Guidance from NHS England includes detailed sections about each of the 5 steps, which can help inform development of 
local processes and approaches

• Existing legal duties, such as the Data Protection Act 1998, must continue to be followed and complied with 

• Working with IT system providers to make sure systems are updated is essential: they have requirements and conformance criteria too

• If IT systems aren’t compatible with SNOMED CT, Read, or CTV codes, the English (or human readable) definitions define different information 
and communication needs in a clear, set way

Official NHS England resources
• Accessible Information Standard – Specification including full requirements and conformance criteria (page 24 onwards)

• Implementation guidance

• NHS England implementation plan

• Terminology for recording needs: codes and English definitions

Hints, tips and resources 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-spec-fin.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-imp-plan.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-termnlgy-3-07-15.docx


17

Stage three: take action

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A simple checklist

 Activity or action Completed?

 Identify information and communication needs

 Record details of these needs in a set, specific way

 Flag or highlight these details

 Share these details with other health and social care services

 Meet people’s needs

 Check how well it works for people

This is a significantly simplified checklist to give an overview of 
the actions needed to follow the Accessible Information 
Standard.



18

Stage three: take action

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist

This detailed checklist is based around the requirements, conformance criteria and guidance in the official documents, but with some simplified 
language and arranged around the theme “take action”. Therefore, only activities that have specific conformance criteria have an official 
deadline listed. Activities or actions without a conformance deadline are drawn from the guidance and supporting information, and are tasks that 
will help achieve one or more of the conformance criteria in that section. When using the checklist approach in this guide, it is important to also 
refer to the requirements and conformance criteria for the standard from NHS England. 

Identify information and communication needs 1/7

Record details of these needs in a specific way 2/7

Flag or highlight these details 3/7

Share these details with other health and social care services 4/7

Meet people’s needs - Part 1 5/7

Meet people’s needs - Part 2 6/7

Check how well it works for people 7/7

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-spec-fin.pdf#page=24


19

Stage three: take action

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 1 of 7

Identify information or communication needs

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Identify and record a person’s information and communication needs whenever 
someone registers, or the first (or next) time they interact, with the service 1 April 2016

For people who already use your services, identify and record information and 
communication needs as part of ongoing or routine interactions 1 April 2016

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=17


20

Stage three: take action

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 2 of 7

Record details of these needs in a specific way

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Staff record details of need in fields consistently, either using the specific codes or the 
associated English language definitions 31 July 2016

Details are recorded accurately 31 July 2016

These details are reviewed or refreshed when other demographic data is reviewed or 
verified 31 July 2016

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=25


21

Stage three: take action

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 3 of 7

Flag or highlight these details

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Details recorded are highly visible 31 July 2016

Electronic recording systems automatically identify that needs have been recorded 
and then flag, prompt or make this highly visible to staff whenever the record is
accessed

31 July 2016

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=27


22

Stage three: take action

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 4 of 7

Share these details with other health and social care services

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Details about people’s information and communication needs are included as part of 
existing data sharing, and routinely shared during referral, discharge and handover 31 July 2016

Care plans and other documents such as health passports and “communication
passports” include details of these needs 31 July 2016

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=29


23

Stage three: take action

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 5 of 7

Meet people’s needs - Part 1

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

When alerted, electronic systems either automatically generate, or allow staff to 
manually generate, correspondence / information in alternative formats 31 July 2016

Systems ensure that a standard print letter is not sent to someone who needs an 
alternative format 31 July 2016

People with a disability, impairment or sensory loss have these needs routinely and 
regularly met

31 July 2016 
(evidence via 

feedback:
30 Sept 2016)

People with these needs have access to accessible contact methods and are
contacted in these ways n/a

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=30


24

Stage three: take action

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 6 of 7

Meet people’s needs - Part 2

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

People with these needs are provided with communication support, including aids or 
equipment and/or by staff making adjustments to their behaviour n/a

Professional communication support and information in alternative formats can be 
provided promptly and without unreasonable delay 31 July 2016

Communications professionals that are used have appropriate qualifications, DBS 
clearance and are signed up to a relevant professional code of conduct n/a

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=30


25

Stage three: take action

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

A detailed checklist 7 of 7

Check how well it works for people

Activity or action
Official

conformance
deadline

Completed?

Not 
started

Partly Mostly Entirely

Records show that people have been sent or provided information (including
correspondence) in appropriate formats that they can understand 31 July 2016

Carry out quality assurance to ensure the support or information provided meets
people’s needs, in partnership with one or more patient groups. 30 Sept 2016

If an online system allows people to view their records, there is evidence that they 
have viewed or contributed to these details 30 Sept 2016

People are made aware of the exact information recorded about their needs to help 
verify accuracy 30 Sept 2016



26

Stage three: take action

Produced by 
Bracknell Forest 

Council

Project funded
by NHS England

Getting the basics right

Getting the basics right will help to make implementation of the
Accessible Information Standard easier and help to establish the 
actions required within day-to-day practice. For example, improving 
the accessibility of all information and documents as standard will help 
many people to understand the information without support. To begin 
with, you may like to consider:

• NHS England’s tips for printed information and communication

• The Information Standard

• Plain English Campaign’s free guides and other resources

• Social Care Institute for Excellence: How to produce information in 
an accessible way

• Mencap’s guide to accessible writing: Am I making myself clear?

Ensuring staff are well trained and have the right communication 
skills will help make it easier for people with a range of needs to 
communicate effectively with staff.  To begin with, you may like to 
consider:

• NHS England’s tips for clear face-to-face communication

• Communicating with people with a learning disability from 
Mencap

• Caring for someone with dementia: communicating from Age 
UK

• Ways of communicating from Action on Hearing Loss

• Communicating with people who are deafblind from Sense

Making websites and online services that are as accessible as 
possible will help people to use these as independently as 
possible. To begin with, you may like to consider:

• The Government Digital Service’s accessibility guidance

• Other parts of the Government Digital Service’s digital service 
design manual

• World Wide Web Consortium’s (W3C) web content accessibility 
guidelines and conformance criteria

Hints, tips and resources 1 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=16
https://www.england.nhs.uk/tis/
http://www.plainenglish.co.uk/
http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/misc/accessguidelinespublications.pdf
http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/misc/accessguidelinespublications.pdf
https://www.mencap.org.uk/node/6040
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/access-info-implmntn-guid.pdf#page=15
https://www.mencap.org.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Communicating with people_updated.pdf
http://www.ageuk.org.uk/home-and-care/caring-for-someone-with-dementia/communicating/
https://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/your-hearing/ways-of-communicating.aspx
https://www.sense.org.uk/content/communicating-people-who-are-deafblind
https://www.gov.uk/service-manual/user-centred-design/accessibility.html
https://www.gov.uk/service-manual/
https://www.gov.uk/service-manual/
https://www.w3.org/WAI/intro/wcag
https://www.w3.org/WAI/intro/wcag


27

Stage three: take action

End
Produced by 

Bracknell Forest 
Council

Project funded
by NHS England

• Guidance from two UK Government departments: Accessible 

communications formats

• Department of Health guide: Making information easier to 

understand for people with learning disabilities

• Mencap: Make it clear – a guide to making easy read information

• Action for Blind People: Making it clear – guide to producing 

printed material

• Action on Hearing Loss: How to produce information for people 

with hearing loss

• The Macular Society: Preparing documents for visually impaired 

people

Hints, tips and resources 2

Guidance on producing alternative formats

• The National Registers of Communication Professionals 

working with Deaf and Deafblind People (NRCPD)

• Action on Hearing Loss: Using communication support

• Action on Hearing Loss: Communication support for people who 

are deafblind

• Action on Hearing Loss: guides to arranging and working with 

other communication professionals such as lipspeakers and 

notetakers

• Guidance from two UK Government departments: Using a 

range of communications channels to reach disabled people

Communication professionals and accessible 
communication methods

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inclusive-communication/accessible-communication-formats
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inclusive-communication/accessible-communication-formats
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215923/dh_121927.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215923/dh_121927.pdf
https://www.mencap.org.uk/sites/default/files/documents/2008-04/make it clear apr09.pdf
https://actionforblindpeople.org.uk/assets/Documents/Fundraising/making-it-clear-colour-690.pdf
https://actionforblindpeople.org.uk/assets/Documents/Fundraising/making-it-clear-colour-690.pdf
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwi5sLSwt9XLAhXCuRQKHfahDzoQFggvMAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.actiononhearingloss.org.uk%2F~%2Fmedia%2FFiles%2FFactsheets%2FDeaf%2520awareness%2Fpdf%2FHow%2520to%2520produce%2520information%2520for%2520people%2520with%2520hearing%2520loss%2520November%25202011.ashx&usg=AFQjCNGHQHVF2ECuUjH01TUSsDRy2fGSpw
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwi5sLSwt9XLAhXCuRQKHfahDzoQFggvMAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.actiononhearingloss.org.uk%2F~%2Fmedia%2FFiles%2FFactsheets%2FDeaf%2520awareness%2Fpdf%2FHow%2520to%2520produce%2520information%2520for%2520people%2520with%2520hearing%2520loss%2520November%25202011.ashx&usg=AFQjCNGHQHVF2ECuUjH01TUSsDRy2fGSpw
https://www.macularsociety.org/preparing-documents-visually-impaired-people
https://www.macularsociety.org/preparing-documents-visually-impaired-people
http://www.nrcpd.org.uk/
http://www.nrcpd.org.uk/
https://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/~/media/Files/Factsheets/Communication/pdf/Using Communication Support 2016.ashx
https://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/~/media/Files/Factsheets/Communication/pdf/Communication support for people who are deafblind_August 2014.ashx
https://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/~/media/Files/Factsheets/Communication/pdf/Communication support for people who are deafblind_August 2014.ashx
https://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/supporting-you/factsheets-and-leaflets/communication.aspx
https://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/supporting-you/factsheets-and-leaflets/communication.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inclusive-communication/using-a-range-of-communication-channels-to-reach-disabled-people
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inclusive-communication/using-a-range-of-communication-channels-to-reach-disabled-people




Making health and social care information accessible 
Update July 2015 – accessible information standard approved

Summary 

The new Accessible Information
Standard was agreed on 24th
June 2015.

All organisations that provide
NHS or adult social care must
follow the Accessible Information
Standard by law.

Organisations must follow the
standard in full by 31st July 2016.

There are also some things they
must do before then. 

1

easy 

read



Aims

The Accessible Information 
Standard aims to make sure that
disabled people have access to
information that they can 
understand and any 
communication support they
might need. 

The standard tells organisations
how to make information 
accessible to the following people:

•    Patients

•    Service users

•    Their carers and parents. 

This includes making sure that
people get information in different
formats if they need it, such as:

•    Large print

2



•    Braille

•    Easy read

•    Via email.  

The Accessible Information 
Standard also tells organisations
how to support people’s 
communication needs, for 
example by offering support from
a British Sign Language (BSL) 
interpreter, deafblind manual 
interpreter or an advocate.

3



What does the Accessible Information
Standard tell organisations to do? 

As part of the Accessible 
Information Standard, 
organisations that provide NHS
or adult social care must do five
things. They must: 

     Ask people if they have any 
     information or communication 
     needs, and find out how to 
     meet their needs. 

4

     Record those needs in a set 
     way. 

1 2 3 4 5

? 1

2



     Highlight a person’s file, so 
     it is clear that they have 
     information or communication 
     needs, and clearly explain 
     how those needs should be 
     met. 

5

     Share information about a 
     person’s needs with other 
     NHS and adult social care 
     providers, when they have 
     consent or permission to do so.

     Make sure that people get 
     information in an accessible 
     way and communication 
     support if they need it.

3

4

5



Who must follow the Accessible 
Information Standard?

All organisations that provide
NHS or adult social care must
follow the standard.

6

This includes NHS Trusts and
Foundation Trusts, and GP 
practices. 

Organisations that pay for and
make decisions about NHS and
adult social care services must
also support the standard. 



7

Why must organisations follow the
standard?

Organisations must follow the
standard by law. This is 
explained in Section 250 of the
Health and Social Care Act 2012.

More Information

More information on the 
Accessible Information Standard
can be found on the NHS England
website 
www.england.nhs.uk/accessibleinfo

More information will be published
during summer and autumn 2015.
This will include more information
in alternative formats.

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patients/accessibleinfo-2/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/section/250
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/section/250


Charities including Action on
Hearing Loss, CHANGE, Sense,
and the Royal National Institute
of Blind people (RNIB) will also
be providing information. 

8

The ‘Information Standards 
Notice,’ which tells organisations
how and why they must follow 
the standard, can be accessed 
via the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre website at
www.hscic.gov.uk/isce/publication/scci1605.

For more information, please
contact NHS England via email at
england.nhs.participation@nhs.net
or call 01138 253002.

You can also write to:
Accessible Information Standard,
NHS England, 7E56, 
Quarry House, Quarry Hill,
Leeds, LS2 7UE. 

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/isce/publication/scci1605
http://www.rnib.org.uk/
http://www.rnib.org.uk/
http://www.sense.org.uk/
http://www.changepeople.org/
http://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/
http://www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk/

	Agenda
	2 Minutes and Action Points
	Minutes

	5 Digital Inclusion Plan
	Digital Inclusion Final Report June 2016

	6 Planning for Later Life
	8 Older People's Action Plan
	OP Strategy Action Plan 2016-17

	10 Accessible Information Standard
	Infographic 2 - Preparing for the standard
	Interactive guide
	Contents
	About the Acccessible Information Standard
	A Three Step Approach
	Stage One: Simple Checklist
	Stage One: Detailed Checklist
	Begin preparing and assess organisation's current position compared with the requirements
	Assess staff ability and readiness, and plan any training/awareness activities
	Plan how the organisation will implement the standard

	Stage One: Hints, tips and resources
	Stage Two: Simple Checklist
	Stage Two: Detailed Checklist
	Prepare clear local policy in line with the standard
	Create clear processes and procedures for following the standard - Part 1
	Create clear processes and procedures for following the standard - Part 2
	Update IT systems, processes and documentation

	Stage Two: Hints, Tips and Resources
	Stage Three: Simple Checklist
	Stage Three: Detailed Checklist
	Identify information or communication needs
	Record details of these needs in a specific way
	Flag or highlight these details
	Share these details with other health and social care services
	Meet people’s needs - Part 1
	Meet people's needs - Part 2
	Check how well it works for people

	Stage Three: Hints, Tips and Resources 1
	Stage Three: Hints, Tips and Resources 2

	NHS England - Accessible Information Standard easy read


	NextButton 7: 
	Page 1: Off

	NextButton: 
	NextButton 2: 
	Page 2: Off
	Page 31: Off

	BackButton 2: 
	Page 2: Off
	Page 31: Off

	ContentsButton 2: 
	Page 2: Off
	Page 31: Off

	NextButton 5: 
	BackButton 5: 
	ContentsButton: 
	Stage1-SimpleChecklistButton: 
	stage2 simplechecklist: 
	stage 2 detailed checklist: 
	stage 2 hints and tips: 
	stage3 simple checklist: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist: 
	stage three hints and tips: 
	pink-detailed checklist: 
	Stage One Hints and Tips: 
	NextButton 3: 
	Page 4: Off
	Page 51: Off
	Page 62: Off
	Page 73: Off
	Page 84: Off
	Page 95: Off

	BackButton 3: 
	Page 4: Off
	Page 51: Off
	Page 62: Off
	Page 73: Off
	Page 84: Off
	Page 95: Off

	ContentsButton 22: 
	Page 4: Off
	Page 51: Off
	Page 62: Off
	Page 73: Off
	Page 84: Off
	Page 95: Off

	Check Box 4: Off
	Check Box 5: Off
	Check Box 6: Off
	Stage1-SimpleChecklistButton 3: 
	pink-detailed checklist 2: 
	Stage One Hints and Tips 2: 
	Stage1-SimpleChecklistButton 4: 
	pink-detailed checklist 3: 
	Stage One Hints and Tips 3: 
	Check Box 24: Off
	Check Box 25: Off
	Check Box 26: Off
	Check Box 27: Off
	Check Box 28: Off
	Check Box 29: Off
	Check Box 30: Off
	Check Box 31: Off
	Check Box 32: Off
	Check Box 33: Off
	Check Box 34: Off
	Check Box 35: Off
	Check Box 36: Off
	Check Box 37: Off
	Check Box 38: Off
	Check Box 39: Off
	Check Box 40: Off
	Check Box 41: Off
	Check Box 42: Off
	Check Box 43: Off
	Stage1-SimpleChecklistButton 5: 
	pink-detailed checklist 4: 
	Stage One Hints and Tips 4: 
	Check Box 44: Off
	Check Box 45: Off
	Check Box 46: Off
	Check Box 47: Off
	Check Box 48: Off
	Check Box 49: Off
	Check Box 50: Off
	Check Box 51: Off
	Check Box 52: Off
	Check Box 53: Off
	Check Box 54: Off
	Check Box 55: Off
	Check Box 56: Off
	Check Box 57: Off
	Check Box 58: Off
	Check Box 59: Off
	Stage1-SimpleChecklistButton 6: 
	pink-detailed checklist 5: 
	Stage One Hints and Tips 5: 
	Check Box 60: Off
	Check Box 61: Off
	Check Box 62: Off
	Check Box 63: Off
	Check Box 64: Off
	Check Box 65: Off
	Check Box 66: Off
	Check Box 67: Off
	Check Box 68: Off
	Check Box 69: Off
	Check Box 70: Off
	Check Box 71: Off
	Stage1-SimpleChecklistButton 7: 
	pink-detailed checklist 6: 
	Stage One Hints and Tips 6: 
	Stage1-SimpleChecklistButton 8: 
	pink-detailed checklist 7: 
	Stage One Hints and Tips 7: 
	NextButton 4: 
	Page 10: Off
	Page 111: Off
	Page 122: Off
	Page 133: Off
	Page 144: Off
	Page 155: Off
	Page 166: Off

	BackButton 4: 
	Page 10: Off
	Page 111: Off
	Page 122: Off
	Page 133: Off
	Page 144: Off
	Page 155: Off
	Page 166: Off

	ContentsButton 23: 
	Page 10: Off
	Page 111: Off
	Page 122: Off
	Page 133: Off
	Page 144: Off
	Page 155: Off
	Page 166: Off

	Check Box 12: Off
	Check Box 13: Off
	Check Box 14: Off
	stage2 simplechecklist 2: 
	stage 2 detailed checklist 2: 
	stage 2 hints and tips 2: 
	stage2 simplechecklist 3: 
	stage 2 detailed checklist 3: 
	stage 2 hints and tips 3: 
	Check Box 1022: Off
	Check Box 1023: Off
	Check Box 204: Off
	Check Box 205: Off
	Check Box 206: Off
	Check Box 207: Off
	Check Box 208: Off
	Check Box 209: Off
	stage2 simplechecklist 4: 
	stage 2 detailed checklist 4: 
	stage 2 hints and tips 4: 
	Check Box 76: Off
	Check Box 77: Off
	Check Box 78: Off
	Check Box 79: Off
	Check Box 80: Off
	Check Box 81: Off
	Check Box 82: Off
	Check Box 83: Off
	Check Box 84: Off
	Check Box 85: Off
	Check Box 86: Off
	Check Box 87: Off
	Check Box 88: Off
	Check Box 89: Off
	Check Box 90: Off
	Check Box 91: Off
	stage2 simplechecklist 5: 
	stage 2 detailed checklist 5: 
	stage 2 hints and tips 5: 
	Check Box 92: Off
	Check Box 93: Off
	Check Box 94: Off
	Check Box 95: Off
	Check Box 96: Off
	Check Box 97: Off
	Check Box 98: Off
	Check Box 99: Off
	Check Box 100: Off
	Check Box 101: Off
	Check Box 102: Off
	Check Box 103: Off
	Check Box 104: Off
	Check Box 105: Off
	Check Box 106: Off
	Check Box 107: Off
	stage2 simplechecklist 6: 
	stage 2 detailed checklist 6: 
	stage 2 hints and tips 6: 
	Check Box 108: Off
	Check Box 109: Off
	Check Box 110: Off
	Check Box 111: Off
	Check Box 112: Off
	Check Box 113: Off
	Check Box 114: Off
	Check Box 115: Off
	Check Box 116: Off
	Check Box 117: Off
	Check Box 118: Off
	Check Box 119: Off
	Check Box 120: Off
	Check Box 121: Off
	Check Box 122: Off
	Check Box 123: Off
	Check Box 124: Off
	Check Box 125: Off
	Check Box 126: Off
	Check Box 127: Off
	Check Box 128: Off
	Check Box 129: Off
	Check Box 130: Off
	Check Box 131: Off
	stage2 simplechecklist 7: 
	stage 2 detailed checklist 7: 
	stage 2 hints and tips 7: 
	stage2 simplechecklist 8: 
	stage 2 detailed checklist 8: 
	stage 2 hints and tips 8: 
	NextButton 6: 
	Page 17: Off
	Page 181: Off
	Page 192: Off
	Page 203: Off
	Page 214: Off
	Page 225: Off
	Page 236: Off
	Page 247: Off
	Page 258: Off
	Page 269: Off

	BackButton 6: 
	Page 17: Off
	Page 181: Off
	Page 192: Off
	Page 203: Off
	Page 214: Off
	Page 225: Off
	Page 236: Off
	Page 247: Off
	Page 258: Off
	Page 269: Off

	ContentsButton 24: 
	Page 17: Off
	Page 181: Off
	Page 192: Off
	Page 203: Off
	Page 214: Off
	Page 225: Off
	Page 236: Off
	Page 247: Off
	Page 258: Off
	Page 269: Off

	Check Box 19: Off
	Check Box 20: Off
	Check Box 21: Off
	Check Box 22: Off
	Check Box 23: Off
	Check Box 210: Off
	stage3 simple checklist 2: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist 2: 
	stage three hints and tips 1-2: 
	stage three hints and tips 2: 
	stage3 simple checklist 3: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist 3: 
	stage three hints and tips 1-1: 
	stage three hints and tips 3: 
	Check Box 1010: Off
	Check Box 1011: Off
	Check Box 140: Off
	Check Box 141: Off
	Check Box 142: Off
	Check Box 143: Off
	Check Box 144: Off
	Check Box 145: Off
	stage3 simple checklist 4: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist 4: 
	stage three hints and tips 10: 
	stage three hints and tips 4: 
	Check Box 1012: Off
	Check Box 1013: Off
	Check Box 146: Off
	Check Box 147: Off
	Check Box 148: Off
	Check Box 149: Off
	Check Box 150: Off
	Check Box 151: Off
	Check Box 152: Off
	Check Box 153: Off
	Check Box 154: Off
	Check Box 155: Off
	stage3 simple checklist 5: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist 5: 
	stage three hints and tips 11: 
	stage three hints and tips 5: 
	Check Box 1014: Off
	Check Box 1015: Off
	Check Box 164: Off
	Check Box 165: Off
	Check Box 166: Off
	Check Box 167: Off
	Check Box 168: Off
	Check Box 169: Off
	stage3 simple checklist 6: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist 6: 
	stage three hints and tips 12: 
	stage three hints and tips 6: 
	Check Box 1016: Off
	Check Box 1017: Off
	Check Box 170: Off
	Check Box 171: Off
	Check Box 172: Off
	Check Box 173: Off
	Check Box 174: Off
	Check Box 175: Off
	stage3 simple checklist 7: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist 7: 
	stage three hints and tips 13: 
	stage three hints and tips 7: 
	Check Box 1018: Off
	Check Box 1019: Off
	Check Box 176: Off
	Check Box 177: Off
	Check Box 178: Off
	Check Box 179: Off
	Check Box 180: Off
	Check Box 181: Off
	Check Box 182: Off
	Check Box 183: Off
	Check Box 184: Off
	Check Box 185: Off
	Check Box 186: Off
	Check Box 187: Off
	Check Box 188: Off
	stage3 simple checklist 8: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist 8: 
	stage three hints and tips 14: 
	stage three hints and tips 8: 
	Check Box 225: Off
	Check Box 1020: Off
	Check Box 1021: Off
	Check Box 190: Off
	Check Box 191: Off
	Check Box 192: Off
	Check Box 193: Off
	Check Box 194: Off
	Check Box 195: Off
	Check Box 196: Off
	Check Box 197: Off
	Check Box 198: Off
	Check Box 199: Off
	stage3 simple checklist 9: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist 9: 
	stage three hints and tips 15: 
	stage three hints and tips 9: 
	Check Box 1024: Off
	Check Box 1025: Off
	Check Box 211: Off
	Check Box 212: Off
	Check Box 213: Off
	Check Box 214: Off
	Check Box 215: Off
	Check Box 216: Off
	Check Box 217: Off
	Check Box 218: Off
	Check Box 219: Off
	Check Box 220: Off
	Check Box 221: Off
	Check Box 222: Off
	Check Box 223: Off
	Check Box 224: Off
	stage3 simple checklist 10: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist 10: 
	stage three hints and tips 16: 
	stage three hints and tips 17: 
	stage3 simple checklist 11: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist 11: 
	stage three hints and tips 18: 
	stage three hints and tips 19: 
	BackButton 7: 
	Page 27: Off

	ContentsButton 25: 
	Page 27: Off

	stage3 simple checklist 12: 
	stage 3 detailed checklist 12: 
	stage three hints and tips 20: 
	stage three hints and tips 21: 


